DEUTSCHES ELEKTRONEN - SYNCHROTRON DESY



# THE CURRENT ALGEBRA ON THE CIRCLE AS A GERM OF LOCAL FIELD THEORIES

by

D. Buchholz, G. Mack

II. Institut f. Theoretische Physik, Universität Hamburg

I. Todorov

Deutsches Elektronen-Synchrotron DESY, Hamburg and

Inst. 6. Nucl. Research & Nucl. Energy, Bulgarian Acad. Sci., Sofia

ISSN 0418-9833

**NOTKESTRASSE 85** 

2 HAMBURG 52

DESY behält sich alle Rechte für den Fall der Schutzrechtserteilung und für die wirtschaftliche Verwertung der in diesem Bericht enthaltenen Informationen vor.

DESY reserves all rights for commercial use of information included in this report, especially in case of filing application for or grant of patents.

To be sure that your preprints are promptly included in the HIGH ENERGY PHYSICS INDEX, send them to the following address (if possible by air mail):

DESY Bibliothek Notkestrasse 85 2 Hamburg 52 Germany ISSN 0418-9833

# THE CURRENT ALGEBRA ON THE CIRCLE AS A GERM OF LOCAL FIELD THEORIES

DETLEV BUCHHOLZ and GERHARD MACK

II. Institut für Theoretische Physik der Universität Hamburg

IVAN TODOROV

DESY, Hamburg and Institute for Nuclear Research and Nuclear Energy, Bulgarian Academy of Sciences, Sofia

ABSTRACT: Methods of algebraic quantum field theory are used to classify all field-and observable algebras, whose common germ is the U(1)-current algebra. An elementary way is described to compute characters of such algebras. It exploits the Kubo-Martin-Schwinger condition for Gibbs states.

# CONTENTS

- I. Introduction
- 1A. Observables, fields and superselection sectors
- 1B. The conformal current algebra on the circle
- 1C. Summary of results
- II. Positive energy representations of the current algebra
- 2A. Exponential (Weyl) form of  $\hat{U}$
- 2B. Positive energy representations of  $\hat{U}$
- III. CHARGED STATES AND CHARGED FIELD OPERATORS
- 3A. The structure of locally generated representations of  $\hat{U}$
- 3B. From localized automorphisms to charged fields
- 3C. The canonical field bundle. Commutation relations and covariance properties
- IV. EXTENDED ALGEBRAS OF LOCAL OBSERVABLES
- 4A. Local extensions of the current algebra
- 4B. Superselection structure of local extensions
- V. QUANTUM FIELDS AFFILIATED WITH THE EXTENDED ALGEBRAS
- 5A. Construction of quantum fields
- 5B. Examples
- VI. CHARACTERS OF LOWEST WEIGHT REPRESENTATIONS AND THE KMS-CONDITION
- 6A. KMS-states on  $A_N$
- 6B. Partition functions
- 6C. Modular properties of characters of  $A_N$
- 6D. Modular invariant partition functions. Local 2-dimensional quantum field theory models
- VII. OUTLOOK AND DISCUSSION
- 7A. On the construction of "quark fields" for non- abelian current algebras
- 7B. Virasoro algebra as a germ of a local field theory. Concluding remarks
- Appendix A. Ground states and KMS-states of  $\hat{U}$
- Appendix B. Solution of a cocycle equation
- Appendix C. Modular properties of  $\Theta$ -functions and characters  $K_n$

Acknowledgement

References

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

Two dimensional conformal models have become a major tool for the investigation of surface critical phenomena [1,2,3] and in the construction of string theories [4,5,6]. Adopting the point of view of conformal invariant quantum field theory (QFT) on Minkowski space, we apply in the present paper methods of the algebraic approach to local QFT [7-9] to classify such models.

Starting from certain specific observables, such as the stress energy tensor, currents etc., whose commutation relations are explicitly known in 2-dimensional conformal QFT, we want to determine all local quantum field theories in which these observables appear. The basic ingredient in our construction are the localized morphisms of the given algebra of observables. We will make use of the fundamental fact that the relevant information on the desired fields is encoded in these morphisms and can be deciphered in a systematic manner [9].

It is the aim of the present paper to expound this method in the case of the simplest class of such theories. They involve the chiral U(1)-current algebra [10,11] and its QFT-extensions. We recall that conserved chiral currents have left- and right-moving components which live on the circle. We classify the algebras of all ("right movers' or left movers'") observables on the circle whose germ is the chiral current algebra. We find their superselection sectors and associated fields that are relatively local to the observables. From there we arrive at local 2-dimensional models by using the principle of modular invariance. The application of this principle requires the computation of characters of the associated algebras (or groups of their unitaries). We will demonstrate that this can be achieved in an elementary way by an analysis of the Gibbs equilibrium states with the help of the Kubo-Martin-Schwinger (KMS) condition [12].

Our Theorem 1 (Section 1A) states that the method of localized morphisms is general in *conformal QFT*, and yields fields which intertwine arbitrary positive energy representations of the algebra of observables. So they can generate the whole Hilbert space of physical states from the vacuum. We hope to apply this method in a forthcoming paper to the classification of QFT-representations of the Virasoro algebra with central charge not restricted to the value c=1.

For the convenience of the reader we give in the two subsequent sections of this introduction an account of the algebraic approach to the construction of charged fields and of some basic facts in conformal quantum field theory. The third subsection contains a detailed summary of our results.

# 1A. OBSERVABLES, FIELDS AND SUPERSELECTION SECTORS

In two dimensional conformal quantum field theory one starts from Bose fields - currents and/or the stress energy tensor - with explicitly known commutation relations [13,14]. One may regard these as local observables, they generate a \*-algebra  $\mathcal{A}$ . The Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  of all physical states will in general decompose into subspaces  $\mathcal{H}_g$  called superselection sectors [15] which carry inequivalent irreducible positive energy representations of  $\mathcal{A}$ . Among them is the vacuum sector  $\mathcal{H}_0$  which contains the vacuum  $\Omega$ .

The observables map each sector  $\mathcal{H}_g$  into itself. Our problem is to construct additional field operators which are relatively local to the observables, and which make transitions between superselection sectors such that the whole Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  is generated from the vacuum  $\Omega \in \mathcal{H}_0$ .

The construction of such fields helps to solve another problem. One may find that one has started from an algebra of observables which is too small - because it admits unacceptably many superselection sectors, for instance. One may then search among the new fields for possible additional observables. They should be Bose fields, i.e. commute at spacelike distances.

According to the construction principle of Doplicher, Haag and Roberts [9] the information about such fields is hidden in the algebra of local observables  $\mathcal{A}$ , because  $\mathcal{A}$  determines its localized morphisms  $\gamma$ , and the fields are to be constructed from such localized morphisms. The fields come in the form of a typical "bosonization formula"

$$\psi_{\mathbf{g}}(x) = A(g; x) \Gamma_{\mathbf{g}}, \quad \text{if} \quad \psi_{\mathbf{g}} \Omega \in \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{g}}.$$
 (1.1a)

The factor  $\Gamma_g$  depends only on the quantum numbers g of the field, and all the space time dependence is in the factor A(g;x) which is a function of the observable fields (e.g. currents).

We proceed now to a more precise description of the construction. Given the collection of local algebras of observables  $\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O}) \subset \mathcal{A}$  which are generated by observables  $\mathcal{A}$  that are localized in bounded regions  $\mathcal{O}$  of Minkowski space M one must first determine the localized morphisms  $\gamma$  of  $\mathcal{A}$ . By definition, a morphism  $\gamma$  of  $\mathcal{A}$  which is localized in  $\mathcal{O}$  is a C-linear map  $\mathcal{A} \mapsto \mathcal{A}$  which obeys

$$\gamma(A_1 A_2) = \gamma(A_1) \gamma(A_2), \quad \gamma(A_1^*) = \gamma(A_1)^*, 
\gamma(A) = A \quad \text{for } A \in \mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O}'),$$
(1.2)

where  $\mathcal{O}'$  lies relatively spacelike to  $\mathcal{O}$ . It is known [9] that the desired outer morphisms can in principle be obtained as limits of *inner* automorphisms of the algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  of local observables, which "transport charge to infinity" in Minkowski space.

If  $\pi_0$  is the representation of the algebra of local observables  $\mathcal{A}$  in the vacuum sector, and  $\gamma$  is a localized morphism, then

$$\pi_{\gamma}(A) = \pi_0(\gamma(A)) \tag{1.3}$$

defines another representation of  $\mathcal{A}$  whose unitary equivalence class depends only on the equivalence class  $g=[\gamma]$  of the morphism  $\gamma$  modulo inner automorphisms. The label g has the physical meaning of a collection of quantum numbers which distinguish various superselection sectors, i.e. inequivalent representations of  $\mathcal{A}$ . It will be called "charge" for short. Under general assumptions on the observable algebra (DHR-duality) there will exist morphisms in the same equivalence class which are localized in arbitrary domains  $\mathcal{O}$ , and two morphisms  $\gamma$  are equivalent modulo inner automorphisms of  $\mathcal{A}$  if and only if they generate equivalent representations  $\pi_{\gamma}$ .

To every morphism  $\gamma$  localized in some  $\mathcal O$  one seeks a field operator  $\psi_{\gamma}$  which implements the automorphism in the sense that

$$A\psi_{\gamma} = \psi_{\gamma}\gamma(A)$$
 for all  $A \in \mathcal{A}$ . (1.4)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>A morphism of an algebra is a map of the algebra into itself which preserves the algebraic relations, cf. Section 1A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>DHR-duality requires that the observable algebra is maximal in the sense that it is impossible to add operators to  $\pi_0(A)$  which are also local and which map the vacuum sector  $\mathcal{H}_0$  into itself. DHR-duality is true for the U(1)-current algebra [16].

Because there exist morphisms with arbitrary localization regions  $\mathcal{O}$  in the same equivalence class  $g = [\gamma]$ , one can choose an operator  $\Gamma_g$  which implements some representative of g, and write a "bosonization formula"

$$\psi_{\gamma} = A(\gamma)\Gamma_{q} \tag{1.1b}$$

where  $A(\gamma)$  is a suitable observable.  $\Gamma_g$  depends only on the charge g while information on the localization region of  $\psi_{\gamma}$  is in the factor  $A(\gamma)$ . The field algebras  $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{O})$  which extend the algebras  $\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O})$  are defined as the \*-algebras generated by operators  $\psi_{\gamma}$ , where  $\gamma$  is localized in  $\mathcal{O}$ . These fields are relatively local to the observables in the sense that

$$[\psi_{\gamma}, A] = 0$$
 if  $\psi_{\gamma} \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{O}_1), A \in \mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O}_2),$  (1.5)

and  $\mathcal{O}_1$  and  $\mathcal{O}_2$  are relatively spacelike to each other. Fields localized at a point are constructed as limits, by choosing in (1.1b) sequences of morphisms  $\gamma$  whose localization regions shrink to a point.

At this point we would like to note that in two space time dimensions it would not be reasonable to assume from the outset that the fields are also local relative to themselves or to other charged fields. Firstly, there exist interesting field theoretic models in which such nonlocal fields appear naturally, so the study of such fields is of interest in its own right [17]. Secondly - and this is important in the present context - some algebras of observables in conformal QFT are obtained as products of two commuting algebras living on 1-dimensional compact manifolds (the circle S<sup>1</sup>). Then the corresponding localized morphisms involve products of localized morphisms of these 1-dimensional components. The fields on the circle obtained from them can be used as building blocks of local 2-dimensional fields, although they may not be local by themselves.

The general construction of the field algebra  $\mathcal F$  as an extension of the algebra  $\mathcal A$  of observables by localized morphisms  $\gamma$  of  $\mathcal A$  was recently completed by Doplicher and Roberts [9] for d>2 dimensions. Their charge shift operators  $\Gamma_g$  in the bosonization formula (1.1b) are elements of Cuntz algebras. Together with the field algebra  $\mathcal F$ , a gauge group (of the first kind) K is constructed. This is a symmetry group of the quantum field theory which acts trivially on the observables.

The restriction to d>2 in the work of Doplicher and Roberts comes about as follows. Besides the morphisms of the algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  one needs to consider intertwiners  $\epsilon\in\mathcal{A}$  between morphisms  $\gamma$  and  $\sigma$ . They obey the relation

$$\gamma(A)\epsilon = \epsilon\sigma(A)$$

for all  $A \in \mathcal{A}$ . Properties of these intertwiners are used in an essential way in the general analysis, and these properties can be established from general principles of quantum field theory only in  $d \geq 2$  dimensions [9], because in two dimensions the spacelike complement of a bounded region in Minkowski space is not connected. For d=2 the right substitute for the Cuntz algebras is not known yet - but see the lectures of J. Fröhlich and B. Schroer in [17,18] for interesting results that are relevant here. Conformal quantum field theory in 2 dimensions lives on a space time where the spacelike complement of a neighbourhood of a point is connected. But the nontrivial topology of this space time causes complications.

The Doplicher Haag Roberts method works also in the conformal field theories we are interested in although in two dimensions some proofs need to be reexamined,

and some assertions do not continue to hold. It is known that by this construction one gets all those superselection sectors  $\mathcal{H}_g$  which carry representations  $\pi_g$  of  $\mathcal{A}$  that are unitarily equivalent to  $\pi_0$  when restricted to observables localized in  $\mathcal{O}^t$ , where  $\mathcal{O}^t$  is the spacelike complement of some bounded (and topologically trivial) domain  $\mathcal{O}$ . It is a remarkable fact that these are indeed all sectors in conformal invariant quantum field theory, in any number of dimensions  $d \geq 2$ , at least if the local algebras of observables satisfy the natural condition that weak limits of observables are also observables.

THEOREM 1. In conformal invariant quantum field theory in  $d \geq 2$  dimensions all superselection sectors  $\mathcal{H}_g$  with positive energy are generated from the vacuum sector  $\mathcal{H}_0$  by localized morphisms, assuming  $\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O})$  are von Neumann algebras and satisfy DHR-duality.

REMARK: In algebraic field theory, the algebra of observables is regarded as defined by its vacuum representation, so  $\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O})$  and  $\pi_0(\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O}))$  can be identified.

PROOF: The crucial fact behind this theorem is that conformal field theory lives on a space time manifold  $\bar{M}$  (a tube) whose spacelike surfaces are compact (spheres) [19]. It contains Minkowski spaces  $M \subset \bar{M}$  which are determined by the point  $\zeta$  at their spacelike infinity. We admit bounded domains  $\mathcal{O} \subset M$  contained in any one of them and write

$$\mathcal{A}_{\zeta} = igcup_{\mathcal{O} \subset M} \mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O})$$

for the algebra of localized observables on M. The spacelike complement  $\mathcal{O}'$  of a bounded region  $\mathcal{O}\subset M$  is itself a bounded domain in some Minkowski space. The assertion follows then from the known fact that positive energy representations of nets of von Neumann algebras are locally normal, i.e. when restricted to any  $\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O})$  they are unitarily equivalent [20], q.e.d.

In the example of the current algebra discussed in our paper, the localized morphisms are in fact automorphisms, i.e. they have an inverse. This situation is somewhat simpler and was dealt with long ago [21]. From the general analysis one expects that the physical Hilbert space has the form

$$\mathcal{H} = \sum_{g} \mathcal{H}_{g},\tag{1.6}$$

i.e. it is a direct sum of inequivalent irreducible representation spaces  $\mathcal{H}_g$  of  $\mathcal{A}$  with multiplicity 1. The gauge group K is abelian. Mathematically speaking, the field algebra  $\mathcal{F}_\zeta \subset \mathcal{F}$  on Minkowski space is constructed as a central extension of the group of automorphisms  $\gamma$  of the algebra of observables  $\mathcal{A}_\zeta$  by the circle group  $\mathbf{T} \subset \mathbf{C}$ , whereas its subalgebra  $\mathcal{A}_\zeta$  is central extension of the group of its own inner automorphisms by  $\mathbf{T}$ . (Locality implies that this extension always exists [21]). The observables are precisely the K-invariant elements of the field algebra.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The same device (1.3) could be used in the representation theory of compact connected Lie groups, with reflections as outer automorphisms. But this would yield representations of the same dimension, so there is no chance of getting all from one. Example: The three 8-dimensional representations of SO(8) (spinor, conjugate spinor, and vector) are related by outer automorphisms.

# 1B. THE CONFORMAL CURRENT ALGEBRA ON THE CIRCLE

In the general case of a d-dimensional conformal QFT the point of departure is either a Minkowski (M) space theory with Wightman functions invariant under infinitesimal conformal (so(d,2)) transformations, or, equivalently, a Euclidean theory with Spin(d+1,1) invariant Schwinger functions. Such a theory can be extended by analytic continuation to a QFT on the universal cover  $\tilde{M}$  of compactified Minkowski space, invariant under global transformations in (the  $\infty$  sheeted universal cover of) the Minkowski space conformal group [19]. In d=2 dimensions  $\tilde{M}$  is the cylinder space  $\mathbf{S}^{\mathbf{d}-1} \times \mathbf{R}$ , the "Einstein universe" singled out by I. Segal [22] for its conformally invariant global causal structure. We shall consider here a QFT on the 2-dimensional cylinder  $\tilde{M} = \mathbf{S}^1 \times \mathbf{R}$ , although it is not simply connected. Doing this means that we restrict attention to half-integer "helicity" fields; we recall that there is no proper spin or helicity in 1+1 dimensions since there is no rotation group.

If  $\xi=x^0-x^1$  and  $\bar{\xi}=x^0+x^1$  are the light cone coordinates in M then the corresponding compact picture coordinates are

$$z = \frac{1 + \frac{i}{2}\xi}{1 - \frac{i}{2}\xi} = e^{i(\sigma^0 - \sigma^1)} \qquad \bar{z} = \frac{1 + \frac{i}{2}\tilde{\xi}}{1 - \frac{i}{2}\tilde{\xi}} = e^{i(\sigma^0 + \sigma^1)}$$
(1.7)

where  $\sigma_1$  is the angle parametrizing space  $S^1$  and  $\sigma_0$  is the variable parametrizing time R.

Free fields and conserved chiral currents can be split into mutually commuting right and left moving components which depend only on one of these light cone variables. For the symmetric traceless stress energy tensor  $\Theta^{\mu}_{\ \nu}$  and the  $u(1)_R \times u(1)_L$  conserved current  $J^{\mu}$  (satisfying  $\partial_{\mu}J^{\mu}=0=\partial_{\mu}\varepsilon^{\mu\nu}J_{\nu}$ ) these chiral components are  $\Theta_{\pm}=(\Theta^0_{\ 0}\pm\Theta^1_{\ 0})/2$  and  $J_{\pm}=(J^0\pm J^1)/2$ .

Upon variable transformation to  $z, \bar{z}$  they become

$$T(z) = 2\pi \left(i\frac{d\xi}{dz}\right)^2 \Theta_{+}(\xi(z)) \tag{1.8}$$

etc.  $(i d\xi/dz = 4(1+z)^{-2})$ . In spite of the anomalous transformation law of the stress energy tensor under general diffeomorphisms there is no extra term proportional to 1 because the coordinate transformation (1.7) is fractional linear.

General fields in conformal QFT live on the cylinder  $S^1 \times \mathbf{R}$  as was mentioned. However, for observable fields which depend only on one light cone variable, periodicity in the angle  $\sigma_1$  which parametrizes space  $S^1$  implies periodicity in time  $\mathbf{R}$ . As a result, observables such as T(z) and J(z) are indeed one-valued functions on the circle  $\{|z|=1\}$ .

Since Minkowski space M is a subset of the cylinder specified by the point  $\zeta$  at its spacelike infinity, the projections of the connected and bounded subsets  $\mathcal{O} \subset M$  on the circle  $\{|z|=1\}$  are intervals

$$I \in \mathbf{S}^1, \qquad \zeta \not\in I.$$

Relatively spacelike domains  $\mathcal{O} \subset M$  project onto disjoint intervals on the circle. Thus

relatively spacelike \(\pi\) disjoint

on the circle. Consequently, observable fields on S1 commute at different points.

The Fourier-Laurent expansion of T(z) introduces the Virasoro generators  $L_n=L_{-n}^*$ 

$$T(z) = \sum_{n} L_n z^{-n-2}, \qquad n \in \mathbf{Z}.$$
(1.9)

The commutation relations of the stress tensor with itself follow from its tracelessness, conservation, scale covariance, and association with the generators of translations in two dimensions, and lead [13] to the commutation relations of the Virasoro algebra

$$[L_n, L_m] = (n-m)L_{n+m} + \frac{c}{12}n(n^2 - 1)\delta_{nm}$$
 (1.10)

Similarly the commutation relations of the current J(z) are determined, they are Heisenberg commutation relations for a free Bose field

$$[J(z_1), J(z_2)] = -\delta'(z_{12}), \tag{1.12}$$

where the z-picture  $\delta$ -function is defined by

$$\oint_{S^1} \delta(z_{12}) u(z_2) \frac{dz_2}{2\pi i} = u(z_1), \quad (z_{12} \equiv z_1 - z_2). \tag{1.13}$$

Using the Fourier-Laurent expansion

$$J(z) = \sum_{n} J_{n} z^{-n-1}, \qquad J_{n}^{*} = J_{-n}, \tag{1.14}$$

these commutation relations and those with the stress tensor read

$$[J_m, J_n] = m \, \delta_{n+m,0} \,, \qquad [J_m, L_n] = m \, J_{m+n}.$$
 (1.15)

A stress tensor with correct commutation relations (with c=1) can be made out of the current J by the Sugawara construction<sup>1</sup>

$$T(z) = \frac{1}{2} : J(z)^2 := \frac{1}{2} \{ J_+(z) J(z) + J(z) J_-(z) \}$$
 (1.16)

where the currents frequency parts are defined by

$$J_{+}(z) = J(z) - J_{-}(z) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} J_{-n} z^{n-1}.$$

In particular this gives for the conformal Hamiltonian  $H = L_0$ 

$$H = \frac{1}{2}J_0^2 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} J_{-n}J_n. \tag{1.17}$$

The conformal Hamiltonian generates a time evolution automorphism

$$\alpha_t(A) = \epsilon^{iHt} A \epsilon^{-iHt} \tag{1.18}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For recent reviews see [23,24].

It acts on the currents according to

$$\alpha_t((J(z)) = e^{it}J(e^{it}z),$$

$$[H, J(z)] = \frac{d}{dz}(zJ(z))$$
(1.19)

#### 1C. SUMMARY OF RESULTS

In this paper we start from the U(1)-current algebra (in 2 dimensions) as our original algebra of local observables. We adjoin to it a conformal Hamiltonian which is some (unspecified) function of the currents. The algebra factorizes into current algebras on the circle denoted by  $\hat{U}$ , as explained in Section 1B. We regard  $\hat{U}$  as the germ of all algebras of observables on the circle which extend it. As we shall see, this extension problem is made meaningful and soluble by the requirement that the Hamiltonian H which generates the time evolution automorphism of these algebras is a function of the original current J.

Our Theorem 1 (in Section 1A) asserts that there always exists a sufficiently large class of localized morphisms of the algebra of observables  $\mathcal{A}$  in a conformal QFT to generate all superselection sectors (i.e. all inequivalent positive energy representations of  $\mathcal{A}$ ) from the vacuum sector. For the algebra  $\hat{U}$  we are able to exhibit them explicitly. They look as follows:

$$J(z) \mapsto \gamma(J(z)) = J(z) + \rho(z)\mathbf{1} \tag{1.20}$$

where  $\rho$  is a smooth function on the circle, with  $z\rho(z)$  real.  $\rho(z)$  is called a charge distribution. Note that these maps do not change the commutation relations (1.12) and they commute with the \*-operation (taking adjoints). Moreover, they have an inverse, so they are automorphisms of the current algebra. These automorphisms are localized in I if supp  $\rho \subset I$ . The equivalence classes of such automorphisms of  $\hat{U}$  modulo inner automorphisms are distinguished by the total charge

$$g = \int \frac{dz}{2\pi i} \rho(z). \tag{1.21}$$

If the Hamiltonian H is given by the Sugawara formula (1.17) then the automorphism corresponding to a constant charge distribution with total charge g acts on it according to

 $H \mapsto H + gJ_0 + \frac{1}{2}g^2.$  (1.22)

This relates the energy spectrum in the vacuum representation and in the supersclection sector which contains a state of charge g.

We show that any Hilbert space of physical states  $\mathcal{H}$  which can be generated from the vacuum  $\Omega$  by fields which are local relative to the currents is a multiplicity free sum of inequivalent irreducible representation spaces for  $\hat{U}$  which are labeled by the charge g: g equals the eigenvalue of the spatial integral  $Q \equiv J_0$  of the current J, and the charge spectrum  $\{g\}$  must be of the form  $g_0 + \mathbf{Q}$ , where  $\mathbf{Q}$  is an additive subgroup of the real numbers  $\mathbf{R}$ .

We examine the algebras generated by these fields which create  $\mathcal{H}$  from  $\Omega$ . It is proven that the net of field algebras  $\mathcal{F}(I)$  for subsets I of the punctured circle

is uniquely determined by the charge spectrum  $\{g\}$  of the theory, up to a Klein transformation. See Proposition 3.1 and Lemma 3.6.

It should be mentioned that the result asserting uniqueness of the field algebra depends on an extra hypothesis which is natural in quantum field theory on Minkowski space. In a quantum field theory on Minkowski space M in which the Hilbert space  $\mathcal H$  of all physical states is generated from the vacuum by local fields, the vacuum cannot be annihilated by any field  $\psi \in \mathcal F(\mathcal O)$  which is localized in a bounded domain  $\mathcal O \subset M$ , and for any open  $\mathcal O$  the fields  $\psi \in \mathcal F(\mathcal O)$  suffice to generate a dense subset of  $\mathcal H$ . This is the Reeh-Schlieder theorem [17]. Our fields are local relatively to the observables, but not necessarily to themselves, therefore the theorem does not apply. We adopt its assertion as a hypothesis. This is natural especially if we want to use our fields as building blocks of local fields.

The field algebras are constructed explicitly. They have the properties listed above as expected for a theory with an abelian gauge group. Explicit forms of the bosonization formulae (1.1) are derived, see Proposition 3.4. Fields at a point are constructed as limits in Section 5A.

The global field algebra  $\mathcal{F}$  has a very simple structure. It is spanned by its unitary elements  $\psi$ . They have the form

$$\psi = \eta W(u) \Gamma_{a}. \tag{1.23}$$

Such a field creates charge g,  $\eta$  is a complex phase factor, W(u) are the Weyl operators depending on some real test function u,

$$W(u) = \exp\left(i \int \frac{dz}{2\pi i} J(z)u(z)\right), \qquad (1.24)$$

and there appear in addition the unitary charge shift operators  $\Gamma_g$  which were mentioned in Section 1A. The multiplication law in  $\mathcal{F}$  is given by the multiplication law for Weyl operators, (cf. Section 2, Eq. (2.6)) together with the relations

$$\Gamma_{g_1}\Gamma_{g_2} = \Gamma_{g_1+g_2}, \qquad \Gamma_0 = 1 
W(u)\Gamma_g = \Gamma_g W(u) e^{ig\tilde{u}_0}$$
(1.25)

where  $\tilde{u}_0 = \int u(z)dz/2\pi iz$ .

The structure of the subalgebras  $\mathcal{F}(I)$  which consist of fields localized on intervals I of the punctured circle is more subtle.  $\mathcal{F}(I)$  includes only fields  $\psi$  such that the automorphisms  $\gamma$  of  $\hat{U}$  which they induce

$$A \mapsto \gamma(A) = \psi^* A \psi \tag{1.26}$$

are localized in I. However, if we were to include all v with this property in  $\mathcal{F}(I)$  then elements of the center of  $\hat{U}$  such as linear combinations of the elements  $e^{isQ}$  would be in all the  $\mathcal{F}(I)$ . Such elements can annihilate the vacuum, so this would violate the Rech-Schlieder property, which we assumed. Another important constraint on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>A Klein transformation multiplies fields  $\psi_{\gamma}$  of charge g with unitary elements Y(g) of the center of the observable algebra, like  $e^{i\pi\epsilon Q}$ . It can change commutation relations in general, but leaves the commutators of two fields with the same quantum numbers g unaffected.

the field algebras comes from the requirement of time translation covariance (see Definition in Section 3A)

$$e^{iHt}\mathcal{F}(I)e^{-iHt} \subset \mathcal{F}(e^{it}I).$$

A net of field algebras with these properties - which is unique up to a Klein transformation as was said above - is obtained by choosing suitable representatives  $\psi_{\rho}$  of the form (1.23). Such a choice of fields  $\psi_{\rho}$  is described in Proposition 3.4 in Section 3B. It depends on the point  $\zeta$  at spacelike infinity. This choice of fields  $\psi_{\rho}$  has the property that the group theoretical commutator of two such fields (with the same  $\zeta$ ) is a c-number.

These field algebras are attached to the punctured circle which is the projection of a Minkowski space without points at infinity. Upon covering the whole circle with such "Minkowski spaces" (charts) one needs transition functions which are in general not c-numbers but involve multiplication of the fields by unitary elements of the center of the observable algebra, i.e. a Klein transformation, except for observable fields. One may speak of a "bundle of Minkowski space QFT's".

Quantum fields  $\psi_g(z)$  at a point can be constructed from the field operators  $\psi_\rho$  by a limit procedure (Section 5). Their correlation functions follow from the multiplication law (1.25), (2.6) in the field algebra, and the formula (2.4) for vacuum expectation values  $\omega_0(W(u))$  of Weyl operators. The multiplication law in the field algebra  $\mathcal{F}$  embodies the information on operator product expansions for the quantum fields  $\psi_g(z)$ .

It is amusing to change the point of view. Suppose that our experimental colleagues in the two-dimensional world were authorized to buy some new equipment so that other quantities besides currents and energy became observable. What could these larger algebras of observables be? This is exactly our problem of finding all algebras of observables whose germ is the current algebra. We find a complete classification in Section 4. The classification follows from the observation that these algebras have to be among the field algebras constructed before, and are singled out by the fact that the fields must be relatively local to themselves.

The observable algebras  $A_N$  extending  $\hat{U}$  are labeled by an integer  $N=1,2,\ldots$ , where  $N=\frac{1}{2}g^2$  is given by the value of the smallest positive charge g that is created by a field in  $A_N$ . The algebras are maximal, i.e. cannot be further extended, if N is a product of distinct primes

$$N = 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 10, \ldots$$

These new algebras of observables and their superselection sectors (positive energy representations) and associated field algebras which make transitions between these sectors are studied in Section 4. They provide further examples of the constructs described in Section 1A with gauge groups  $\mathbb{Z}_{2N}$ .

Among them is the  $\widehat{su(2)}$ -current algebra of level 1. In this case our findings agree with known results [25]. There are two superselection sectors (including the vacuum sector) and they are mapped into each other by (localized) outer automorphisms of the  $\widehat{su(2)}$  current algebra and the associated loop group. In addition we obtain the field operators which make transitions between the two sectors.

These results show that the celebrated vertex operators of conformal field theory are special cases of the much more general constructs of algebraic field theory which were recalled in Section 1A.<sup>1</sup>

To make effective use of these algebras of observables and fields one desires their characters. They are determined by their restriction to the groups of unitaries in these algebras. In Section 6 we describe an elementary way of computing such characters by exploiting the KMS-condition for Gibbs states on algebras of fields or observables. The characters of  $\mathcal{A}_N$  are found. They are expressed in terms of Thetafunctions. They are related to the modular forms of weight  $\frac{1}{2}$  which were studied by Serre and Stark [31].

There are 2N superselection sectors for  $A_N$ . We show that its partition functions transform according to a 2N-dimensional representation of the modular group  $SL(2, \mathbf{Z})$ . This can be used to construct modular invariant partition functions for the 2-dimensional theory, and to construct local 2-dimensional fields from fields on the circle which are only relatively local to the observables. This is briefly discussed in Section 6, for more details see [32].

The paper concludes with an outlook which discusses possible generalizations.

# II. POSITIVE ENERGY REPRESENTATIONS OF THE CURRENT ALGEBRA

# 2A. Exponential (Weyl) form of $\hat{U}$

Consider the space  $S = S(S^1)$  of real test functions u on  $S^1$ ,

$$u(z) = \sum_{n} \tilde{u}_{n} z^{-n}, \qquad \hat{u}_{n}^{*} = \tilde{u}_{-n}.$$
 (2.1)

We define the smeared current by

$$J(u) = \int \frac{dz}{2\pi i} J(z)u(z) = \sum_{n} \tilde{u}_{n}^{*} J_{n}$$
 (2.2)

which in view of the reality of u is a hermitean operator. Equation (1.19) gives rise to an action of the time translations by automorphisms  $\alpha_t$  on the currents,

$$\alpha_t(J(u)) = J(u_t), \quad \text{where } u_t(z) = u(e^{-it}z). \tag{2.3}$$

The current commutation relations (1.12) now take the form

$$[J(u), J(v)] = \int \frac{dz}{2\pi i} u'(z)v(z) \equiv A(u, v). \tag{2.4}$$

It will be convenient to work with the exponentials of the smeared currents (Weyl operators)

$$W(u) = \epsilon^{iJ(u)}. (2.5)$$

The commutation relations (2.4) are equivalent to the composition law

$$W(u)W(v) = \epsilon^{-\frac{1}{2}A(u,v)}W(u+v), \qquad (2.6)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The vertex operator construction has appeared in various guises [26,27], for early work cf. [28,29,30].

and the adjoints of the Weyl-operators are given by

$$W(u)^* = W(-u). (2.7)$$

The Weyl operators thus generate a \*-algebra of bounded operators with a distinguished action of the time translations

$$\alpha_t(W(u)) = W(u_t), \qquad u_t(z) = u(e^{-it}z). \tag{2.8}$$

By an abuse of notation we will denote this algebra by  $\hat{U}$ . Throughout the remainder of this article we will only make use of the structure incorporated in the relations (2.6) to (2.8).

# 2B. Positive energy representations of $\hat{U}$

Since  $\hat{U}$  describes a system with infinitely many degrees of freedom there exists an abundance of representations and we have to select those which are of interest here by some selection criterion.

The standard class of representations of  $\hat{U}$  considered in the literature are representations having a ground state (lowest weight representations). From a general point of view it appears to be more natural only to demand that in the representations of interest there exists a generator H of the "time translations" which is non-negative. The condition that H is bounded below means that we are dealing with elementary systems, but there is no a priori reason to impose further conditions on the spectrum of H (such as the existence of discrete eigenvalues). In the present case of the dynamical system  $(\hat{U}, \alpha_t)$  it turns out, however, that any representation admitting a generator  $H \geq 0$  of the time translations is a (direct sum of) ground state representations.

Before giving the argument, we introduce some notation: We denote the representations of  $\hat{U}$  by  $(\pi, \mathcal{H})$ . They consist of a representation (Hilbert-) space  $\mathcal{H}$  and a mapping  $\pi$  of  $\hat{U}$  into  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  (the algebra of all bounded operators on  $\mathcal{H}$ ) which respects the algebraic relations in  $\hat{U}$ , i.e.  $\pi$  is a homomorphism. As already mentioned, we are interested in those representations  $(\pi, \mathcal{H})$  for which there exists a positive selfadjoint operator  $\mathcal{H}$  on some domain in  $\mathcal{H}$  such that

$$\pi(\alpha_t(W)) = \epsilon^{iHt} \pi(W) e^{-iHt}, \qquad W \in \hat{U}. \tag{2.9}$$

We call such representations "positive energy representations". Note that relation (2.9) does not completely fix the operator H, since one may add to it any selfadjoint operator from the commutant  $\pi(\hat{U})'$  of  $\pi(\hat{U})$ , without affecting this relation.

The ambiguities involved in the choice of a Hamiltonian H implementing the dynamics can be removed by the requirement that

$$\epsilon^{iHt} \in \pi(\hat{U})^n$$
 (2.10)

and that 0 is the lower boundary of the spectrum of H in each subspace of  $\mathcal{H}$  reducing the representation  $\pi$ . It is a very general fact [33] that such a "minimal generator" H

always exists and it is uniquely fixed by these conditions. We will adopt this convention for the time being, but we want to point out already now that the ad hoc choice of the lowest eigenvalue of H as the zero-point of energy in each subrepresentation of  $(\pi, \mathcal{H})$  will turn out to be inappropriate in the extension of the time translations to the charged fields. A more appropriate choice of the generator H will follow from the requirement that the fields should transform covariantly under time translations, as will be discussed later.

After this disgression let us turn now to our problem, the determination of all positive energy representations of  $\hat{U}$ . We shall need the following elementary facts.

LEMMA 2.1. Every positive energy representation  $(\pi, \mathcal{H})$  of  $\tilde{U}$  can be decomposed into a direct sum of ground state representations. More precisely, there exists a family of unit vectors  $\Omega_i \in \mathcal{H}, i \in \mathbf{I}$  (some index set) such that the subspaces  $\mathcal{H}_i = \frac{1}{\pi(\hat{U})\Omega_i} \subset \mathcal{H}$  are mutually orthogonal,  $\mathcal{H} = \sum_i \mathcal{H}_i$ , and  $H\Omega_i = 0$  for all  $i \in \mathbf{I}$ , where H is the minimal generator of the time translations.

PROOF: Since  $t \mapsto \pi(\alpha_t W(u))$  is periodic with period  $2\pi$ , every operator  $\pi(W), W \in \hat{U}$  can be decomposed into a series of bounded operators

$$ilde{W}_n = (2\pi)^{-1} \int_0^{2\pi} ds \, \epsilon^{-ins} \pi(\alpha_s(W)), \qquad n \in {f Z}.$$

Moreover,

$$\tilde{W}_n \epsilon^{iHt} = \epsilon^{i(H-n)t} \tilde{W}_n$$

hence  $W_n$  transfers the energy n to all vectors. Now let  $\Delta$  be any closed interval contained in (-1,1) and assume that there exists some vector  $\Omega \neq 0$  in the spectral subspace associated with the spectrum of H in  $\Delta$ . Since  $H \geq 0$  it follows that  $\overline{W}_n\Omega = 0$  if n < 0. Hence the spectrum of H on the subspace  $\pi(\hat{U})\Omega$  is contained in

$$\bigcup_{n\in\mathbf{N_0}}(\Delta+n).$$

Now according to our convention, 0 is the lower boundary point of the spectrum of H on each subspace which reduces  $\pi$ . Thus 0 must be contained in  $\Delta$ , showing that 0 is the only point within the interval (-1,1) which is in the spectrum of H. Hence  $H\Omega=0$ . Proceeding to the orthogonal complement of  $\pi(\hat{U})\Omega$  in  $\mathcal{H}$  we can apply the same arguments, so the statement follows by iteration. q.c.d.

Having thus reduced the problem of finding all positive energy representations of  $\hat{U}$  to that of determining all ground state representations, we are essentially done. We recall that, by the GNS reconstruction theorem, it is sufficient to determine all functionals

$$\omega(W) = (\Omega, \pi(W)\Omega), \quad W \in \hat{U}$$
(2.11)

i.e. the ground states. In view of the composition law (2.6) one must in fact only exhibit the generating functionals  $\omega(W(u)), u \in \mathcal{S}$ . We will restrict here our attention to those states  $\omega$  for which the functions

$$\lambda \mapsto \omega(W(\lambda u)), \quad u \in \mathcal{S}$$
 (2.12)

are continuous in  $\lambda \in \mathbf{R}$ . These states determine exactly those representations of the Weyl operators in which the currents can be defined as (unbounded) operators. Any functional  $\omega$  satisfying this continuity requirement will be called regular.

 $<sup>^{-1}</sup>$ We recall that the double commutant  $\mathcal{B}''$  of a \*-algebra  $\mathcal{B}$  of bounded operators is equal to its weak closure. Regarding  $\hat{U}$  as an algebra of observables, relation (2.10) may thus be understood as the requirement that H is observable.

LEMMA 2.2. i) Let  $\omega$  be a regular state on  $\tilde{U}$  generating a ground state representation. Then there exists some positive, normalized measure  $\mu$  on R such that for  $u \in S$ 

$$\omega(W(u)) = \int d\mu(g) \exp(ig\tilde{u}_0 - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n|\tilde{u}_n|^2). \tag{2.13}$$

Conversely, given any positive normalized measure  $\mu$  on  $\mathbf{R}$ , then the functional  $\omega$  fixed by (2.13) determines a ground state on  $\hat{U}$ .

ii) Let  $\omega_q, g \in \mathbf{R}$  be the ground states given by

$$\omega_g(W(u)) = \exp(ig\tilde{u}_0 - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n|\tilde{u}_n|^2). \tag{2.14}$$

These states are pure. They induce disjoint irreducible representations of  $\hat{U}$  for different values of g. Relation (2.13) thus gives the central decomposition of the ground states  $\omega$ . (According to standard terminology, the pure ground states are called lowest weight states and we will use this term in the following.)

In order to make this paper selfcontained we indicate the proof of this well known fact [25] in Appendix A, where we also determine all Gibbs states for  $\hat{U}$ .

## III. CHARGED STATES AND CHARGED FIELD OPERATORS

# 3A. The structure of locally generated resentations of $\hat{U}$

According to the results of the previous section all positive energy representations  $(\pi, \mathcal{H})$  of  $\hat{U}$  can be decomposed into irreducible lowest weight representations labeled by a "charge"  $g \in \mathbf{R}$ . But the requirement of energy positivity does not impose any restrictions on the charge spectrum (i.e. on the values of g appearing in a representation) or its multiplicity.

Such restrictions arise if one assumes that the representation space  $\mathcal{H}$  is generated from a vacuum vector (ground state)  $\Omega$  with the help of field operators which are local relative to the current. Since we want to construct such fields we must identify first of all the appropriate representations of  $\hat{U}$ . This is done in an implicit manner in the following definition (cf. also the subsequent explanations).

DEFINITION. A positive energy representation  $(\pi, \mathcal{H})$  of  $\hat{U}$  is said to be locally generated by fields if there exists an irreducible set of (weakly closed) algebras  $\mathcal{F}(I) \subset \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ , assigned to the closed subsets I of the punctured circle  $S^1 \setminus \{-1\}$ , such that:

i) The observables localized in I are among the fields in  $\mathcal{F}(I)$ , and all fields are local relative to the observables. In formulae

$$\pi(\hat{U}(I)) \subset \mathcal{F}(I) \subset \pi(\hat{U}(I'))'$$
.

Here  $\hat{U}(I)$  denotes the \*-algebra generated by the Weyl operators W(u) with supp  $u \subset I$ , and  $I' = \mathbf{S^1} \setminus I$ .  $\pi(\hat{U}(I'))'$  is the commutant of  $\pi(\hat{U}(I'))$  in  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ .

ii) There is a representation  $e^{iHt}$  of the time translations on  $\mathcal{H}$ , satisfying the conditions (2.9) and (2.10), such that for any closed set  $I_1$  contained in the interior of some  $I_2$  and for all t in a sufficiently small neighbourhood of 0

$$e^{iHt}\mathcal{F}(I_1)e^{-iHt}\subset\mathcal{F}(I_2).$$

The generator  $H \geq 0$  has the simple eigenvalue 0. The corresponding eigenvector will be called the ground state  $\Omega$ .

- iii) The field algebras have the Reeh-Schlieder property (cp. Section 1C), that is the ground state is cyclic and separating for each  $\mathcal{F}(I)$  if I has nonempty interior. ("Cyclic" means that the set of vectors  $\psi\Omega, \psi \in \mathcal{F}(I)$  is dense in  $\mathcal{H}$  for each I. "Separating" means that  $\psi\Omega = 0$  is possible for  $\psi \in \mathcal{F}(I)$  only if  $\psi = 0$ .)
  - iv) The charge operator  $Q = \pi(J_0)$  has pure point spectrum.

These conditions require perhaps some comments. The first condition is clearly satisfied if there exists on  $\mathcal{H}$  an irreducible set of field operators which are local relative to the current. These fields, smeared with test functions having support in I, will then generate the "field algebras"  $\mathcal{F}(I)$ . We consider only subsets I of the punctured circle since we do not want to assume from the outset that the fields are single-valued on  $S^1$ . We also do not anticipate any commutation relations of the fields (other than that they should be relatively local to the observables).

The second condition relates to covariance properties of the fields and to the existence of a unique ground state vector  $\Omega$ . Note that the generators H complying with this condition will in general differ from the minimal ones considered in the previous section. The familiar Reeh-Schlieder property iii) [15] was recalled in Section 1C.

The last condition amounts to a mild form of charge quantization. In principle one could also allow for a continuous spectrum of Q, but we do not investigate this possibility here.

Having thus described the class of representations in which we are interested, we can now give a much more explicit characterization.

PROPOSITION 3.1. Let  $(\pi, \mathcal{H})$  be a positive energy representation of  $\hat{U}$  which is locally generated by fields. Then:

- i) There exists a  $g_0 \in \mathbf{R}$  such that the spectrum of the operator  $(Q g_0 1)$  is an additive subgroup of  $\mathbf{R}$ .
- ii) The restriction of  $\pi(\hat{U})$  to any one of the spectral subspaces  $\mathcal{H}_g \subset \mathcal{H}$  corresponding to the eigenvalues g of Q is irreducible.
- iii) Any locally generated representation  $(\pi, \mathcal{H})$  is uniquely fixed (up to unitary equivalence) by the spectrum of Q. Moreover, the underlying system of field algebras  $\mathcal{F}(I), I \subset S^1 \setminus \{-1\}$  is unique (up to Klein transformations).<sup>1</sup>

PROOF: The lengthy proof of this statement is obtained by an adaptation of the general arguments in [21] to the present model. The reader may omit it in a first reading and proceed to Section 3B.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For a discussion of Klein transformations cf. for example [15] and footnote to Section 1C. We recall that a Klein transformation does not change the commutation relations of fields carrying the same charge, but it may change the commutation relations of fields carrying different charges.

Since 0 is a simple eigenvalue of H and since  $e^{iHt} \in \pi(\hat{U})^n$  it is clear that  $\Omega$  must be an eigenvector of Q corresponding to some eigenvalue  $g_0$ . From the discussion in Section 2 we also know that there exists only one (up to unitary equivalence) irreducible positive energy representation of  $\hat{U}$  for a given charge  $g_0$ . Hence making use a second time of the fact that  $e^{iHt} \in \pi(\hat{U})^n$  and that H has a simple eigenvalue on the sector  $\mathcal{H}_{g_0}$  of charge  $g_0$  it is clear that the restriction of  $\pi$  to  $\mathcal{H}_{g_0}$  has multiplicity one, thus  $\pi(\hat{U})$  is irreducible on this space.

Next we note that in view of the composition law (2.6) for the Weyl operators and the properties of the field algebras  $\mathcal{F}(I)$  given in the preceding definition we have

$$e^{i\lambda Q}\mathcal{F}(I_1)e^{-i\lambda Q}\subset\mathcal{F}(I_2),\qquad\lambda\in\mathbf{R}$$

whenever  $I_1$  is contained in the interior of  $I_2$ . Thus if  $\psi \in \mathcal{F}(I_1)$  we find that all weak limit points  $\psi_g, g \in \mathbf{R}$  of the bounded sequences

$$\frac{1}{\Lambda} \int_0^{\Lambda} d\lambda \, e^{-i\lambda g} e^{i\lambda Q} \psi e^{-i\lambda Q}, \qquad \Lambda \nearrow \infty$$

are elements of  $\mathcal{F}(I_2)$ , for which the following relation holds

$$\psi_g e^{i\lambda Q} = e^{i\lambda(Q-g)} \psi_g. \tag{3.1}$$

Hence any nonzero operator  $\psi_g$  changes the charge of the vectors in  $\mathcal H$  by g. (We will also say  $\psi_g$  "creates" or "carries" the charge g.) Now if  $g_1$  is in the (discrete) spectrum of Q, and if  $E_{g_1}$  is the projection onto the corresponding spectral subspace  $\mathcal H_{g_1}$ , then  $E_{g_1}\mathcal F(I_1)\Omega$  is dense in  $\mathcal H_{g_1}$  because of the cyclicity of  $\Omega$ . Thus the operators  $\psi_g$  generate from  $\Omega$  a dense set in  $\mathcal H_{g_1}$  if  $g=g_1\cdots g_0$ .

Let  $\psi_g, \phi_g \in \mathcal{F}(I)$  be operators as constructed above. Then  $\psi_g^*\phi_g \in \mathcal{F}(I)$  commutes with the charge operator Q and therefore maps  $\mathcal{H}_{g_0}$  into itself. Moreover  $\psi_g^*\phi_g$  commutes with all operators in  $\pi(\hat{U}(I'))$ , so we can make use of the fact that in every irreducible positive energy representation  $(\pi_{g_0}\mathcal{H}_{g_0})$  of  $\hat{U}$  there holds the duality relation [16]

$$\pi_{g_0}(\hat{U}(I'))' = \pi_{g_0}(\hat{U}(I))''. \tag{3.2}$$

(This relation can be established either by transferring the general argument in [34] to the present theory on the circle, or by explicit computation as in [35].) For the case at hand it means that the restriction of the operator  $\psi_g^*\phi_g$  to  $\mathcal{H}_{g_0}$  coincides with some operator  $W \in \pi(\hat{U}(I))^{\mu}$ . But  $\mathcal{H}_{g_0}$  contains the vector  $\Omega$  which is separating for  $\mathcal{F}(I)$ , and consequently

$$\psi_g^*\phi_g=W\in\pi(\hat{U}(I))^n$$

on the whole Hilbert space. Similarly one can show that  $\phi_g \psi_g^* \in \pi(\hat{U}(I))^n$ .

We can now proceed in a standard manner. By polar decomposition of  $\psi_g$ , i.e.

$$\psi_{\boldsymbol{g}} = V_{\boldsymbol{g}}(\psi_{\boldsymbol{g}}^*\psi_{\boldsymbol{g}})^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

we obtain (partial) isometries  $V_g \in \mathcal{F}(I)$  which change the charge of any vector by g. Let us assume for a moment that one can always find operators  $\psi_g \in \mathcal{F}(I)$  such that the operators  $V_g$  appearing in this decomposition are isometries, i.e.  $V_g^*V_g = 1$ . The general case will be discussed at the end of our argument.

If  $g_1,g_2$  are in the spectrum of Q we pick isometries  $\psi_{g'},\psi_{g''}\in\mathcal{F}(I)$  creating the charges  $g'=g_1-g_0$  and  $g''=g_2-g_0$ . Since  $\psi_{g''}^*\psi_{g''}^*\psi_{g''}\psi_{g''}=1$  it is clear that the vector  $\psi_{g'}\psi_{g''}\Omega$  is not zero, showing that there exist vectors in  $\mathcal{H}$  carrying the charge  $g_1+g_2-g_0$ . Observing that the operator  $\psi_{g'}^*$  creates the charge -g', it is also clear that the vector  $\psi_{g'}^*\Omega$  (which is nonzero since  $\Omega$  is separating for  $\mathcal{F}(I)$ ) carries the charge  $2g_0-g_1$ . Hence the spectrum of  $(Q-g_01)$  is an additive subgroup of  $\mathbb{R}$ , as claimed.

Now let  $\Psi \in \mathcal{H}_{g_1}$  be any nonzero vector and let  $\psi_{g'}, \phi_{g'} \in \mathcal{F}(I)$  be arbitrary field operators creating the charge  $g' = g_1 \cdots g_0$ . Since  $e^{-iHt}$  and  $e^{iHt}\psi_{g'}e^{-iHt}\phi_{g'}^*$  (t small) are elements of  $\pi(\hat{U})''$  we find that any vector  $\Phi \in \mathcal{H}_{g_1}$  which is orthogonal to  $\pi(\hat{U})''\Psi$  must satisfy

$$(\Phi, \psi_{a'} e^{-iHt} \phi_{a'}^* \Psi) = 0$$

if t is sufficiently small. Since H is a positive operator, this equation extends by analyticity to all  $t \in \mathbf{R}$ . By taking a mean over t we thus find (since the ground state is unique) that

$$(\Phi, \psi_{\sigma'}\Omega)(\Omega, \phi_{\sigma'}^*\Psi) = 0$$

for arbitrary  $\psi_{g'}$ ,  $\phi_{g'} \in \mathcal{F}(I)$ . This is only possible if  $\Phi = 0$  since the operators  $\psi_{g'}$ ,  $\phi_{g'}$  generate from  $\Omega$  a dense set of vectors in  $\mathcal{H}_{g_1}$ . Hence the restriction of  $\pi(\hat{U})$  to  $\mathcal{H}_{g_1}$  is irreducible.

Let us now turn to the question of the uniqueness of the representation  $(\pi, \mathcal{H})$  of  $\hat{U}$  and of the field algebras  $\mathcal{F}(I)$  if the spectrum of Q is given. The uniqueness of the representation is obvious: it is the direct sum of the disjoint irreducible representations  $(\pi_g, \mathcal{H}_g)$  of charge g, where g runs through the spectrum of Q. So let us assume that there exist two systems of field algebras  $\mathcal{F}^{(1)}(I)$ ,  $\mathcal{F}^{(2)}(I)$  on  $\mathcal{H}$ . Each of these algebras is generated by fields  $\psi^{(1)}$  and  $\psi^{(2)}$ , respectively, creating fixed charges g. Picking any two such fields it is clear that  $\psi^{(2)}\psi^{(1)*}$  commutes with Q and with all operators in  $\pi(\hat{U}(I'))$ . Thus the restriction of  $\psi^{(2)}\psi^{(1)*}$  to any sector  $\mathcal{H}_{g_i}$  can be represented by some operator  $W_i \in \pi(\hat{U}(I))^n$  because of the duality relation (3.2), i.e.

$$\psi^{(2)}\psi^{(1)*} = \sum_{i} E_{i}W_{i}$$

where  $E_i$  are the central projections onto  $\mathcal{H}_{g_i}$ . Assuming that  $\psi^{(1)}, \psi^{(2)}$  are isometries, we can rewrite this equation in the form

$$\psi^{(2)}=\sum_i E_i \psi_i^{(1)}$$

where  $\psi_i^{(1)} \in \mathcal{F}^{(1)}(I)$  are fields carrying the same charge as  $\psi^{(2)}$ . From this we conclude that for all  $W \in \pi(\hat{U})''$  and all i (since  $\psi_i^{(1)}W^i\psi_k^{(1)*} \in \pi(\hat{U})''$ )

$$E_i \psi^{(2)} W \psi^{(2)*} = E_i \psi_i^{(1)} W \psi_i^{(1)*}. \tag{3.3}$$

We first choose operators  $W \in \pi(\hat{U}(I_1))$  where  $I_1 \supset I$  and  $I_1'$  has a nonempty interior. Then  $\psi_i^{(1)}W\psi_i^{(1)*}$  and  $\psi_i^{(2)}W\psi_i^{(2)*}$  are, because of duality, elements of  $\pi(\hat{U}(I_1))^n$ . Hence multiplying relation (3.3) from the left and right with  $\psi^*$  and  $\psi$ , respectively, where  $\psi \in \mathcal{F}^{(1)}(I_2)$ ,  $I_2 \subset I_1'$  is an isometry carrying an arbitrary charge, we see that

relation (3.3) also holds if we replace the projections  $E_i$  by  $E_k$  for arbitrary k. This implies that

 $\psi^{(2)}W\psi^{(2)*}=\psi_i^{(1)}W\psi_i^{(1)*} \tag{3.4}$ 

for operators W with the special localization properties. Since the fields in  $\mathcal{F}^{(i)}(I)$ , i=1,2 commute with the operators in  $\pi(\hat{U}(I'))$ , relation (3.4) also holds if we replace W by sums of the form  $\sum W_1W_2$ , where  $W_1 + \pi(\hat{U}(I_1))$  and  $W_2 \in \pi(\hat{U}(I'))$ . In view of the composition law (2.6) for the Weyl operators W(u) it is then clear that relation (3.4) holds for all  $W \in \pi(\hat{U})^n$ . Fixing some i and setting  $Z = \psi_i^{(1)*}\psi^{(2)}$  we can rewrite this equation (bearing in mind that  $\psi^{(2)}$  is an isometry) according to

$$Z^*WZ = W$$
.

From this we see in particular that  $Z^*Z=1$ . Setting  $W=ZZ^*$  (recall that Z is an element of  $\pi(\hat{U})^n$ ) it is also clear that  $ZZ^*=1$ , hence Z is a unitary element of the center of  $\pi(\hat{U})^n$ . From this it follows that

$$\psi^{(2)} = \psi^{(2)} \psi^{(2)*} \psi_i^{(1)} Z,$$

i.e. any  $\psi^{(2)} \in \mathcal{F}^{(2)}(I)$  is obtained by multiplying some operator in  $\mathcal{F}^{(1)}(I)$  with a suitable element of the center of  $\pi(\hat{U})''$ . It has still to be shown that this central element can be chosen to be the same for all fields  $\psi^{(2)}$  carrying the same charge: Let  $\psi^{(2)} \in \mathcal{F}^{(2)}(I)$  be any such field. Then we have (since  $\psi^{(2)}$  is an isometry)

$$\psi'^{(2)} = \psi'^{(2)}\psi^{(2)*}\psi^{(2)} = \psi'^{(2)}\psi^{(2)*}\psi^{(1)}Z$$

with the same central element Z as before. Thus Z depends only on the charge carried by the fields, which means that it induces a Klein transformation.

It remains to discuss the possibility that the operator  $V_g$  appearing in the polar decomposition of  $\psi_g \in \mathcal{F}(I)$  are only partial isometries, i.e. that  $V_g^*V_g = E$  is a nonzero projection in  $\pi(\hat{U}(I))^n$ . As a consequence of the spectral properties of H and the cyclicity of  $\Omega$  any such projection can be represented in the form  $E = WW^*$ , where W is an isometry in an algebra  $\pi(\hat{U}(\hat{I}))^n$  corresponding to some possibly slightly larger region  $\hat{I} \supseteq I$ . (For a general argument cf. [36].) Hence one can always proceed from a partial isometry  $V_g$  to an isometry with the desired properties by right multiplication with a suitable "observable" W. This, finally, completes the proof of the proposition. g.e.d.

The reader will have noticed that only very little specific information about the model under consideration was used in the derivation of this result. The essential input was the information that the duality relation (3.2) holds in all charge sectors of the current algebra. From the general analysis of the superselection structure of quantum field theory [9] we know that this feature is typical for theories with a global abelian gauge group. Moreover, we are prepared to find that all superselection sectors can be generated from the vacuum state with the help of localized automorphisms of the algebra  $\hat{U}$ . (In theories with a non-abelian global gauge group one would need localized morphisms which are not invertable.) These automorphisms will be the key to the construction of the charged fields.

## 3B. FROM LOCALIZED ACTOMORPHISMS TO CHARGED FIELDS

For the actual construction of the charged fields we proceed as follows. We start from the "largest" representation  $(\hat{\pi}, \hat{\mathcal{H}})$  of  $\hat{U}$  which is compatible with the constraints found in the preceding proposition: it is the direct sum of all irreducible representations  $(\pi_g, \mathcal{H}_g)$  of charge  $g \in \mathbf{R}$ . The representation space  $\hat{\mathcal{H}}$  of this universal representation is non-separable, but this will not cause any problems. The advantage of working with this universal representation is that one can obtain any other locally generated representation of  $\hat{U}$  by projection. A concrete realization of  $(\hat{\pi}, \hat{\mathcal{H}})$  which will be convenient in the following can be obtained as follows.

To begin with, we introduce a group of charge shift automorphisms  $\gamma_g$ ,  $g \in \mathbf{R}$  of the current algebra, setting

$$\gamma_g(W(u)) = e^{ig\hat{u}_0}W(u), \qquad \hat{u}_0 \equiv \oint u(z)\frac{dz}{2\pi iz}.$$
 (3.5)

These automorphisms commute with  $\alpha_t$  and satisfy

$$\gamma_{g_1}\gamma_{g_2} = \gamma_{g_1+g_2}, \qquad \gamma_g^{-1} = \gamma_{-g}.$$
 (3.6)

Let  $\omega_0$  be the vacuum state (considered as a linear functional on the current algebra), i.e. the lowest weight state of charge g=0. The lowest weight states of charges  $g\neq 0$  are obtained by composing  $\omega_0$  with  $\gamma_g$ . The GNS representation induced by  $\omega_0$  will be denoted by  $(\pi_0, \mathcal{H}_0)$  and the cyclic vector corresponding to  $\omega_0$  by  $\Omega$ . The space  $\hat{\mathcal{H}}$  of all charged states consists of vectors  $\Phi$  whose components  $\Phi_g, g \in \mathbf{R}$  are elements of  $\mathcal{H}_0$  and are different from zero for an at most countable number of g. The norm in  $\hat{\mathcal{H}}$  is given by

$$||\Phi||^2 = \sum_{g \in \mathbf{R}} ||\Phi_g||_0^2, \tag{3.7}$$

where  $|\hat{j}_{+}||_{0}$  denotes the Hilbert norm in  $\mathcal{H}_{0}$ . We define a representation of  $\hat{U}$  on  $\hat{\mathcal{H}}$  by

$$(\hat{\pi}(W)\Phi)_g = \pi_0(\gamma_g(W))\Phi_g \qquad \text{for } W \in \hat{U}. \tag{3.8}$$

(Since this representation is faithful we omit the symbol  $\hat{\pi}$  in the following.)

On  $\mathcal{H}$  we introduce unitary charge carrying operators  $\Gamma_e, e \in \mathbf{R}$ , setting

$$(\Gamma_e \Phi)_g = \Phi_{g-e}. \tag{3.9}$$

One easily verifies that

$$\Gamma_{e_1}\Gamma_{e_2} = \Gamma_{e_1+e_2}$$

$$\Gamma_{\bullet}^*W\Gamma_{e} = \gamma_{e}(W) \quad \text{for } W \in \hat{U}.$$
(3.10)

We also introduce a continuous unitary representation  $t\mapsto U_1(t)$  of the time translations by setting

$$(U_1(t)\Phi)_q = U_0(t)\Phi_q \tag{3.11}$$

where  $U_0$  are the minimal time translations in  $\mathcal{H}_0$ . The operators  $U_1(t)$  commute with the charge shifts,

$$U_1(t)\Gamma_e U_1(t)^{-1} = \Gamma_e, (3.12)$$

and act on the Weyl algebra according to

$$U_1(t)WU_1(t)^{-1} = \alpha_t(W). \tag{3.13}$$

We also note that  $U_1(t) \in \hat{U}^n$ . Hence  $U_1$  is the minimal representation of the translations introduced in Section 2. We will later proceed from  $U_1$  to a represention U of the translations which complies with the condition of covariance of the charged fields.

Let us now turn to the construction of charged fields, i.e. charge carrying operators with specific localization properties relative to the currents.

We define an arbitrary charge distribution as a 1-form  $\rho(z)dz/2\pi i$  on  $\mathbb{S}^1$  with  $z\rho(z)\in\mathcal{S}$ . Given any such  $\rho$  we can construct a localized automorphism  $\gamma_\rho$  of  $\hat{U}$  setting

$$\gamma_{\rho}(W(u)) = \epsilon^{i\rho[u]}W(u), \tag{3.14a}$$

where

$$\rho[u] = \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi i} \rho(z) u(z) \in \mathbf{R} \quad \text{for } u \in \mathcal{S}.$$
 (3.14b)

Localized here refers to the property that  $\gamma_{\rho}(W(u)) = W(u)$  if  $\rho$  and u have disjoint supports, since  $\rho[u]$  vanishes in that case. Note that

$$\gamma_{\rho_1}\gamma_{\rho_2} \equiv \gamma_{\rho_1+\rho_2}.\tag{3.14c}$$

Our aim would be to construct for any  $\rho$  a unitary field operator  $\psi_{\rho}$  satisfying

$$\psi_{\rho}^* W \psi_{\rho} = \gamma_{\rho}(W) \quad , \quad W \in \hat{U}. \tag{3.15a}$$

Such operators will create from the vacuum  $\Omega$  states with total charge

$$g = \int \frac{dz}{2\pi i} \rho(z) = \rho[1], \qquad (3.15b)$$

and are relatively local to the current in the sense of the previous remark.

It follows from (3.14c) that the operators  $\psi_{\mu}$  must satisfy an equation of the form

$$\psi_{\rho_1}\psi_{\rho_2} = Z(\rho_1, \rho_2)\psi_{\rho_1+\rho_2}. \tag{3.16}$$

where Z belongs to the center of  $\hat{U}^n$  in the faithful representation under consideration. (Note that the commutant  $\hat{U}^i$  of  $\hat{U}$  is equal to the center of  $\hat{U}^n$  since the representation of  $\hat{U}$  is a direct sum of disjoint irreducible representations.)

The associativity of the multiplication law for the  $\psi$ 's implies that the Z-factors in (3.16) obey the cocycle relation

21

$$Z(\rho_1, \rho_2)Z(\rho_1 + \rho_2, \rho_3) = \gamma_{-g_1}(Z(\rho_2, \rho_3))Z(\rho_1, \rho_2 + \rho_3).$$
 (3.17)

The trivial solutions of this equation, the coboundaries are

$$B(\rho_1, \rho_2) = X(\rho_1)_{1 + g_1} (X(\rho_2)) X(\rho_1 + \rho_2)^{-1}$$
(3.18)

where X(.) are arbitrary unitaries in the center of  $U^n$ .

If the operators  $\psi_{\rho_1}, \psi_{\rho_2}$  correspond to densities  $\rho_1, \rho_2$  with the same total charge, then  $\psi_{\rho_1}\psi_{\rho_2}^*$  is an observable (more precisely,  $\psi_{\rho_1}\psi_{\rho_2}^* \in U^n$ ). Indeed, it follows from Eqs. (3.14) that

$$\psi_{\rho_1} w_{\rho_2}^* W(u) \psi_{\rho_2} v_{\rho_3}^* = \epsilon^{i(\rho_2[u] - \rho_1[u])} W(u). \tag{3.19}$$

The vanishing of the total charge of  $\rho_2 - \rho_1$  implies that it is the derivative (up to a factor i) of some test function  $v \in \mathcal{S}$ :

$$\rho_2(z) - \rho_1(z) = iv'(z). \tag{3.20}$$

It then follows from (2.6) and (2.4) that  $\psi_{\rho_1}\psi_{\rho_2}^*$  induces the same automorphism of  $\hat{U}$  as W(v), hence  $W(v)^*\psi_{\rho_1}\psi_{\rho_2}^*$  is an element of the center of  $\hat{U}^n$ .

We shall now show that there exists a privileged choice of fields  $\psi_{\rho}$  so that  $Z(\rho_1, \rho_2)$  is a complex number.

It is evident from the previous remark that such fields can be obtained by multiplying the constant charge shift operators  $\Gamma_g$ ,  $g = \rho[1]$  with a suitable element  $W(\hat{\rho})$  of  $\hat{U}$ . We set

$$\psi_{\rho} = W(\hat{\rho})\Gamma_{\rho},\tag{3.21a}$$

where  $\hat{\rho}$  must satisfy

$$\frac{d}{dz}\hat{\rho}(z) = i[\rho(z) - \frac{g}{z}]. \tag{3.21b}$$

Hence

$$\hat{\rho}(z) = i \sum_{n \neq 0} \tilde{\rho}_{-n} \frac{z^n}{n} + l(\rho)$$
 (3.21c)

where  $l(\rho)$  is some constant. The coefficients  $\tilde{\rho}_{-n}$  are given by

$$\rho(z) = \sum_{n} \tilde{\rho}_{-n} z^{n-1}, \qquad (\tilde{\rho}_{\theta} = \rho[1] = g). \tag{3.22}$$

The functional  $l(\rho)$  has to be linear, as we shall see shortly. The field (3.21a ) indeed induces the desired automorphism (3.14a), since

$$\psi_{\rho}^{\star}W(u)\psi_{\rho} = e^{A(\hat{\rho},u)+ig\hat{u}_0}W(u) = e^{i\rho[u]}W(u).$$

Here we have used (2.6), (3.5), (3.10), and the identity

$$A(\hat{\rho}, u) - ig\tilde{u}_0 = \oint (\rho(z) - \frac{g}{z})u(z)\frac{dz}{2\pi} + ig\tilde{u}_0 = i\rho[u].$$

On the other hand,

$$\psi_{\rho_1}\psi_{\rho_2} = W(\hat{\rho}_1)\gamma_{-g_1}(W(\hat{\rho}_2))\Gamma_{g_1+g_2} - Z(\rho_1,\rho_2)\psi_{\rho_1+\rho_2}$$
(3.23a)

where

$$Z(\rho_1, \rho_2) = W(\hat{\rho}_1) \gamma_{-g_1} (W(\hat{\rho}_2)) W(\rho_1 - \rho_2)^{-1}$$

$$+ e^{i[\ell(\rho_1) + l(\rho_2) + l(\rho_1) + \rho_2)]Q} \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2} A(\rho_1, \hat{\rho}_2) - ig_1 l(\rho_2)\right), \tag{3.23b}$$

Hence  $Z(\rho_1, \rho_2)$  is a constant phase factor if  $l(\rho)$  is linear in  $\rho$ , which we will assume henceforth.

Next we study the ambiguities in the definition of  $\psi_\rho$ . If  $\{\psi_\rho^i\}$  is any other collection of unitaries inducing the automorphism (3.10) of U, it follows from the previous remarks that

$$\psi_{\rho}^{\prime} = X(\rho)\psi_{\rho} \tag{3.24}$$

where  $X(\rho)$  are unitaries in the center of  $\tilde{U}^n$ . These operators satisfy an equation of type (3.12) with  $Z(\rho_1, \rho_2)$  replaced by

$$Z'(\rho_1, \rho_2) = X(\rho_1)\gamma_{-g_1}(X(\rho_2))X(\rho_1 + \rho_2)^{-1}Z(\rho_1, \rho_2)$$
(3.25)

where  $g_1 = \rho_1[1]$  is the total charge of  $\rho_1$ . Here we have used the fact that  $\Gamma_{g_1}^{-1}\psi_{\rho_1} \in \hat{U}''$  (cf. (3.21a)). Hence the cocycles Z and Z' differ by a coboundary in  $\hat{U}''$ , and thus belong to the same cohomology class.

The condition that the operator  $Z(\rho_1, \rho_2)$  in the composition law (3.12) is a cnumber is clearly necessary if the vacuum  $\Omega$  is to be separating for the field algebras generated by the operators  $\psi_{\rho}$  (cf. Section 3A). But, as is clear from the preceding discussion, it does not yet fix these fields uniquely. If  $\{\psi_{\rho}^i\}$  is another family of field operators complying with this condition it follows from Eq. (3.25) that the corresponding unitary operators must satisfy

$$X(\rho_1)\gamma_{-g_1}(X(\rho_2)) = \xi(\rho_1, \rho_2)X(\rho_1 + \rho_2)$$
 (3.26)

where  $\xi(.,.)$  is some phase factor. The following lemma gives the (continuous) solution of this equation.

LEMMA 3.2. Any solution  $X(\rho)$  of Eq. (3.26) with values in the unitary operators of the center of  $\hat{U}^n$ , which is continuous with respect to  $\rho$  in the sense of distributions has the form

$$X(\rho) = \eta(\rho)\epsilon^{i\lambda(\rho)Q}Y(g), \qquad g = \rho[1]$$
(3.27)

where  $\eta(\rho)$  is an arbitrary phase factor,  $\lambda(\rho)$  is a real linear continuous functional of  $\rho$ , and  $Y(q), q \in \mathbf{R}$  are unitary elements of the center of  $\hat{U}^n$  satisfying

$$Y(g_1)\gamma_{-g_1}(Y(g_2)) = Y(g_1 + g_2).$$

Moreover the phase factor  $\xi(.,.)$  appearing in (3.26) is related to the functional  $\lambda(.)$  and phase factor  $\eta(.)$  by

$$\eta(\rho_1)\eta(\rho_2)\eta(\rho_1+\rho_2)^{-1}e^{-ig_1\lambda(\rho_2)}=\xi(\rho_1,\rho_2). \tag{3.28}$$

The proof of this lemma is given in Appendix B. What this statement tells us is that our Ansatz (3.21) for the fields is sufficiently general. Apart from the trivial modifications arising by multiplying the fields  $\psi_{\rho}$  with an arbitrary phase factor  $\eta$ , or with certain central elements Y which depend only on the total charge carried by  $\psi_{\rho}$  ("Klein transformations"), the only freedom left is the choice of the functional l(.) in our definition (3.19) of the fields. Again it is not difficult to see that l(.) cannot be arbitrary if the vacuum  $\Omega$  is to be separating for the field algebras. The appropriate form of l(.) will be established in the subsequent section.

3C. THE CANONICAL FIELD BUNDLE. COMMUTATION RELATIONS AND COVARIANCE PROPERTIES

The representation (3.19) of  $\psi_{\rho}$  allows to compute the group theoretic commutator of two such fields. According to (3.21), it is a complex phase factor

$$\psi_{\rho_1} \psi_{\rho_2} \psi_{\rho_3}^* \psi_{\rho_3}^* = Z(\rho_1, \rho_2) Z(\rho_2, \rho_1)^* \tag{3.29}$$

$$= \exp(-A(\hat{\rho}_1, \hat{\rho}_2) - il(g_1\rho_2 - g_2\rho_1)). \tag{3.30}$$

Our next objective is to find a functional l for which the phase factor in (3.30) simplifies whenever  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  have support in disjoint intervals  $I_1$  and  $I_2$ . Given two such intervals we shall first compute the variation of  $A(\hat{\rho}_1, \hat{\rho}_2)$  when one of the charge densities, say  $\rho_2$ , changes within the region  $I_2$  while the total charge  $g_2$  is kept fixed. To this end we choose a point

$$\zeta = e^{i heta_{\zeta}} \in \mathbf{S^1}, \qquad -\pi \le heta_{\zeta} < \pi$$

in the complement of  $I_1$  and  $I_2$ , and define  $ln_{\zeta}z$  as the branch of the logarithm with a cut along  $\zeta \mathbf{R}_+$ 

$$ln_{\ell}z = ln|z| + i\theta, \qquad \theta_{\ell} \le \theta < 2\pi + \theta_{\ell}$$
 (3.31)

for  $z = |z|e^{i\theta}$ .

Let  $\Delta \rho_2$  be the change of  $\rho_2$ . Since the support of  $\Delta \rho_2$  lies in the contractible region  $I_2$  and

$$\oint \Delta \rho_2(z)dz = \int_{I_2} \Delta \rho_2(z)dz = 0$$
 (3.32)

there exists a primitive  $\widehat{\Delta \rho_2}$  with support in  $I_2$  such that

$$\frac{d}{dz}\widehat{\Delta\rho_2}(z) = i\Delta\rho_2(z).$$

Since  $\rho_1(z)\widehat{\Delta\rho_2}(z) = 0$ , Eq. (3.21b) implies that for  $\zeta \notin I_2$ 

$$A(\widehat{\rho_1}, \widehat{\Delta \rho_2}) = \int \left(\rho_1(z) - \frac{g_1}{z}\right) \widehat{\Delta \rho_2}(z) \frac{dz}{2\pi}$$

$$= -\frac{g_1}{2\pi} \int \widehat{\Delta \rho_2}(z) dln_{\zeta} z = -g_1 \oint ln_{\zeta} z \Delta \rho_2(z) \frac{dz}{2\pi i}.$$
(3.33)

This tells us that the functional

$$\mathcal{T} = -A(\hat{\rho}_1, \hat{\rho}_2) - \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi i} [g_1 \rho_2(z) - g_2 \rho_1(z)] ln_{\zeta} z$$
 (3.34)

does not depend on the precise choice of  $\rho_2$ , provided that it is localized in  $I_2$ . Due to its skew symmetry in  $\rho_1, \rho_2, T$  is also constant under charge preserving deformations of  $\rho_1$  within  $I_1$ . It is then obvious that T is also constant under continuous changes of  $I_1, I_2$  and  $\zeta$ . Thus T depends only on the relative location of  $I_1, I_2$ , and  $\zeta$ , i.e. it is a topological invariant. This result could have been established by general arguments as in [9]. But in contrast to the situation in higher dimensions, where T would be 0 or  $i\pi$  (Bose-Fermi alternative), this topological invariant has a much richer spectrum in the present case.

LEMMA 3.3. Let  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  have support in disjoint intervals  $I_1$  and  $I_2$  on  $S^1$ . Then the value of the topological invariant T is

$$\mathcal{T} = \pm i\pi g_1 g_2 \tag{3.35}$$

where the sign is + if one passes from  $I_1$  to  $I_2$  through  $\zeta$  in the positive direction, and it is - otherwise.

PROOF:  $\mathcal{T}$  being a topological invariant unaffected by continuous changes of the point  $\zeta$ , the densities  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$ , and the intervals  $I_1$  and  $I_2$  (without changing their relative positions), one can reduce its computation to the special case of densities  $\rho_1, \rho_2$  which are characteristic functions. We omit the trivial calculations. The result is as given in the lemma. q.e.d.

The above analysis motivates the introduction of a 1-parameter family of unitary field operators.

DEFINITION. Let ( be an arbitrary complex number of absolute value 1. Then

$$\psi_{\rho}^{\zeta} = \eta_{\zeta}(\rho)W(\hat{\rho}_{\zeta})\Gamma_{g}, \qquad g = \rho[1]$$
(3.36)

where

$$\eta_{\zeta}(\rho) = \exp\left(\frac{i}{2}g \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi}\rho(z)ln_{\zeta}z\right)$$
(3.37)

is a phase factor (which will turn out to be convenient), and

$$\hat{\rho}_{\zeta}(z) = i \sum_{n \neq 0} \rho_{-n} \frac{z^n}{n} - \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi} \rho(z) ln_{\zeta} z \in \mathcal{S}. \tag{3.38}$$

In other words, we have chosen the functional  $l(\rho)$  in (3.21c) to be

$$l_{\zeta}(\rho) = -\oint \frac{dz}{2\pi} \rho(z) \ln_{\zeta} z. \tag{3.39}$$

We note that Eq. (3.39) defines a real functional since both  $z^{-1}dz$  and  $\ln_{\zeta}z$  are pure imaginary on the unit circle while  $z\rho(z)$  is real.

PROPOSITION 3.4. The unitary field operators  $\psi_{\rho}^{\zeta}$  defined by Eqs.(3.36) to (3.38) induce the localized automorphisms (3.14a), and they have the properties

i) There holds the fusion rule

$$\psi_{\rho_1}^{\zeta} \psi_{\rho_2}^{\zeta} = e^{T/2} \cdot \psi_{\rho_1 + \rho_2}^{\zeta} \tag{3.40}$$

where T is an imaginary number (cf. relation (3.34)).

ii) If the charge densities  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  have supports in disjoint intervals  $I_1, I_2 \subset S^1 \setminus \{\zeta\}$  then

$$\psi_{\rho_1}^{\zeta} \psi_{\rho_2}^{\zeta} = e^{\pm ig_1 g_2 \pi} \psi_{\rho_2}^{\zeta} \psi_{\rho_2}^{\zeta} \psi_{\rho_1}^{\zeta}. \qquad (g_a = \rho_a[1], \quad a = 1, 2)$$

$$(3.41)$$

where the sign is  $\pm (-)$  if the path from  $I_1$  to  $I_2$  through  $\zeta$  goes in the positive (negative) direction.

25

iii) For  $\lambda \in \mathbf{R}$  the unitaries  $\psi_{\lambda \rho}^{\zeta}$  satisfy

$$\psi_{\lambda_1\rho}^{\zeta}\psi_{\lambda_2\rho}^{\zeta}=\psi_{(\lambda_1+\lambda_2)\rho}^{\zeta}. \tag{3.42}$$

In particular  $(\psi_{\rho}^{\zeta})^* = \psi_{+\rho}^{\zeta}$ .

This statement follows from the definition of  $\psi_{\rho}^{\zeta}$ , Eq. (3.36), and from the properties derived above, in particular from Lemma 3.3. The property (3.42) follows from the choice (3.37) of the phase factor as is verified by a direct computation.

We will now proceed to a study of the  $\zeta$ -dependence of the  $\psi$ 's. To this end we calculate the "transition operators"  $\psi_{\rho}^{\zeta_2}(\psi_{\rho}^{\zeta_1})^*$ . A straightforward compution gives the following result.

LEMMA 3.5. Let  $\rho$  have support in an interval  $I \subset \mathbf{S}^1 \setminus \{\zeta_1, \zeta_2\}$ , then

$$\psi_{\alpha}^{\zeta_2}(\psi_{\alpha}^{\zeta_1})^* = e^{-\sigma i\pi g^2} e^{2\pi i gQ} \tag{3.43}$$

where  $\sigma$  takes the values  $0, \pm 1$  depending on the relative positions of the points  $\zeta_1, \zeta_2$  and the interval  $I: \sigma = 0$  if the path from  $\zeta_1$  to  $\zeta_2$  crossing I meets -1, and  $\sigma = \pm 1$  if this path does not meet -1 and is positively respectively negatively oriented.

Lemma 3.5 suggests that for fixed  $\zeta$ ,  $\psi_{\rho}^{\zeta}$  (supp  $\rho \in \mathbf{S}^1 \setminus \{\zeta\}$ ) should be regarded as local sections of a "field bundle" over  $\mathbf{S}^1$ . The following statement shows that the above choice of sections is essentially unique.

LEMMA 3.6. Let  $\phi_{\rho}^{\zeta}$ ,  $\zeta \in S^1$ , supp  $\rho \in S^1 \setminus \{\zeta\}$ , be fields with the properties listed in Proposition 3.4 and assume that  $\phi_{\rho}^{\zeta_1} = \phi_{\rho}^{\zeta_2}$  if the support of  $\rho$  belongs to the component of  $S^1 \setminus \{\zeta_1, \zeta_2\}$  containing the point z = -1. Then there exists a unitary operator V in the center of  $\hat{U}^n$  and a phase factor  $\eta(\rho)$  satisfying the equation

$$\eta(\lambda_1 \rho) \eta(\lambda_2 \rho) = \eta((\lambda_1 + \lambda_2) \rho) \tag{3.45}$$

for real  $\lambda$  such that

$$\phi_{\rho}^{\zeta} = \eta(\rho) V \psi_{\rho}^{\zeta} V^{-1}. \tag{3.46}$$

We omit the straightforward proof of this lemma which is essentially based on the information contained in Lemma 3.2.

We proceed to studying the covariance properties of the unitary charged field operators under time translations. It follows from (3.12), (3.13) and (2.6) that

$$U_1(t)\psi_{\rho}^{\zeta}U_1(t)^{-1} = \frac{\eta_{\zeta}(\rho)}{\eta_{\zeta}(\rho^t)} \exp\left(-iQ\oint \frac{dz}{2\pi}[\rho(z) - \rho^t(z)]ln_{\zeta}z\right)\psi_{\rho^t}^{\zeta}$$
(3.47)

where  $t \mapsto \rho^t$  is the standard time translation law for a charge density

$$\rho^{t}(z) = e^{-it}\rho(e^{-it}z) \tag{3.48}$$

and

$$\frac{\eta_{\zeta}(\rho)}{\eta_{\zeta}(\rho')} = \exp\left(\frac{i}{2}g \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi} [\rho(z) - \rho'(z)] ln_{\zeta}z\right). \tag{3.49}$$

For sufficiently small t for which supp  $\rho^t \in \mathbf{S}^{1 + \{\zeta\}}$  we have

$$\oint \frac{dz}{2\pi} [\rho(z) - \rho^t(z)] ln_{\zeta} z = gt$$
(3.50)

so that

$$U_1(t)\psi_{\rho}^{\zeta}U_1(t)^{-1} = e^{\frac{i}{2}g^2t}\epsilon^{-igtQ}\psi_{\rho}^{\zeta}.$$
 (3.51)

We must get rid of the charge operator appearing on the right hand side if the vacuum is to be separating for the local field algebras. A covariant time evolution law for the charged fields complying with this requirement can be obtained by redefining the time evolution operator according to

$$U(t) = U_1(t)e^{\frac{i}{2}Q^2t}. (3.52)$$

Since

$$e^{\frac{i}{2}Q^2t}\Gamma_q e^{-\frac{i}{2}Q^2t} = e^{-\frac{i}{2}g^2t + igQt}\Gamma_q$$

we then have

$$U(t)\psi_{\rho}^{\zeta}U(t)^{-1} = \psi_{\rho^{t}}^{\zeta}. \tag{3.53}$$

We can summarize our analysis by the following

PROPOSITION 3.7. The map  $t \mapsto U(t)$ , where U(t) is defined by (3.52) and (3.11), gives rise to a continuous unitary representation of the time translations on  $\mathcal{H}$  such that

$$U(t)\psi_{
ho}^{\zeta}U(t)^{-1}=\psi_{
ho^t}^{\zeta}$$

if supp 
$$\rho_{\tau} \subset \mathbb{S}^1 \setminus \{\zeta\}$$
 for  $|\tau| \le t$ . (3.54)

The selfadjoint operator H on  $\hat{\mathcal{H}}$  defined from  $U(t)=e^{iHt}$  has the spectrum

$$rac{1}{2}g^2 + \mathbf{Z}_+ \qquad ext{on } \mathcal{H}_g, \ g \in \mathbf{R}.$$

Moreover,  $\Omega$  is the unique ground state of H, and  $e^{iHt} \in \hat{U}''$ .

So we have established within our setting the well known fact that the "natural" energy of a lowest weight state of charge g is  $\frac{1}{2}g^2$ .

We also record the most general time evolution operator which allows for a cnumber phase factor in the covariance law (3.54) (which would be compatible with the requirement that  $\Omega$  is separating) for the fields. Setting

$$U_{\mu}(t) = U(t)e^{i\mu Qt} \tag{3.55}$$

we have

$$U_{\mu}(t)\psi_{\rho}^{\zeta}U_{\mu}(t)^{-1} = e^{i\mu gt}\psi_{\rho'}^{\zeta}.$$
 (3.56)

 $\mu$  corresponds to a "chemical potential" in the terminology of statistical mechanics.

We note that there arises a further restriction on the ambiguities in the definition of the charged fields coming from time translation covariance. If the fields  $\phi_{\rho}^{\zeta}$  of

Lemma 3.6 are to satisfy the same covariance law (3.54) as  $v_{\rho}^{\zeta}$  then the phase factor  $\eta(\rho)$  in (3.46) must be translation invariant

$$\eta(\rho^t) = \eta(\rho). \tag{3.57}$$

The properties of  $\eta$  imply that the product of fields

$$\psi_{e_1\rho^{i_1}}^{\zeta} \psi_{e_2\rho^{i_2}}^{\zeta} \dots \psi_{e_n\rho^{i_n}}^{\zeta} \text{ with } \epsilon_1 + \epsilon_2 + \dots + \epsilon_n = 0$$
 (3.58)

is independent of the choice of phase factors  $\eta$ . We shall profit from this fact in the next section where the Wightman functions of pointlike charged fields will be determined from the algebraic properties of  $\psi_{\rho}^{\zeta}$ . Because of relation (3.58) these function do not depend on arbitrary phase factors.

Let us summarize the results of this section. Starting from the notion of locally generated representations we were led to consider the universal representation of  $\hat{U}$  on the Hilbert space  $\hat{\mathcal{H}}$  of all charged states. This space is big enough to implement all local charge shift automorphisms  $\gamma_{\rho}$  by unitary charged field operators  $\psi_{\rho}$ . To put it another way: we have embedded the current algebra into a field algebra such that its outer automorphisms  $\gamma_{\rho}$  extend to the field algebra and become inner automorphisms there.

The ambiguities involved in the definition of the field operators  $\psi_{\rho}$  can be removed by algebraic constraints following in particular from the requirement that the vacuum  $\Omega$  should be separating for the algebras  $\mathcal{F}(I), I \subset \mathbf{S}^1$ . That is, elements of the local field algebras  $\mathcal{F}(I)$  cannot annihilate the vacuum. We have seen that one can find such coherent families of fields  $\psi_{\rho}^{\zeta}$  only for intervals  $I \subset \mathbf{S}^1 \setminus \{\zeta\}$  of the punctured circle (since the transition functions in Lemma 3.5 are center-valued operators). This means that all charged field operators live on an infinite covering of  $\mathbf{S}^1$ . The situation changes, however, if one restricts fields corresponding to certain specific values of the charge to suitable subspaces of  $\hat{\mathcal{H}}$ , as we will see in the subsequent section.

We have also determined the form of the Hamiltonian from the requirement of covariance of the fields. The Hamiltonian was found to be unique up to a shift by multiples of the charge operator (inducing a global gauge transformation).

We conclude this section by recalling Proposition 3.1, according to which the algebras  $\mathcal{F}(I)$  of charged fields in a locally generated representation of  $\hat{U}$  are only unique up to a Klein transformation. In the present universal representation it is not possible to perform such transformations which would change the commutation relations of the fields (cf. Lemma 3.6). This possibility arises, however, in certain subrepresentations of  $\hat{U}$  as will be discussed in the subsequent section.

# IV. EXTENDED ALGEBRAS OF LOCAL OBSERVABLES

#### 4A. LOCAL EXTENSIONS OF THE CURRENT ALGEBRA

Having complete control on the universal locally generated representation of  $\hat{U}$  and the corresponding algebras of charged fields we can now turn to the question of how the current algebra can be embedded into various field theoretic settings. We will adopt the point of view that the current algebra is only a subalgebra of

some larger (as yet unknown) algebra of observables. In particular we give up the (implicit) assumption that the charge Q is superselected. That the algebra  $\hat{U}$  must be regarded as an insufficient algebra of observables is quite obvious: Q is not quantized and accordingly the physical state space is non-separable. So what we are looking for are extensions  $\mathcal{A}$  of  $\hat{U}$  which may be regarded as more acceptable algebras of observables.

In order to cast this idea into a well-posed problem we must fix the rules of the game. The extensions  $\mathcal{A}$  of  $\hat{U}$  we are interested in should still live on the circle  $S^1$  in the sense that for each interval  $I \subset S^1$  there exists a subalgebra  $\mathcal{A}(I) \subset \mathcal{A}$  containing  $\hat{U}(I)$ . The algebras  $\mathcal{A}(I)$  should satisfy the obvious condition of isotony

$$\mathcal{A}(I_1) \subseteq \mathcal{A}(I_2)$$
 if  $I_1 \subseteq I_2$  (4.1)

and they should be local in the sense that

$$\mathcal{A}(I_1) \subset \mathcal{A}(I_2)' \qquad \text{if } I_1 \cap I_2 = \emptyset. \tag{4.2}$$

(' denotes the commutant as usual). It should also be possible to extend the time evolution automorphism  $\alpha_i$  of  $\hat{U}$  to the algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  in such a way that it acts covariantly on  $\mathcal{A}$ , i.e.

$$\alpha_t(\mathcal{A}(I)) = \mathcal{A}(\epsilon^{it}I), \qquad t \in \mathbf{R}$$
 (4.3)

in an obvious notation. Furthermore there should exist a vacuum representation of  $\hat{A}$  in which the automorphisms  $\alpha_t$  can be implemented by a continuous unitary representation  $t \mapsto e^{iHt}$  with a unique invariant ground state  $\Omega$  which is cyclic and separating for the algebras  $\mathcal{A}(I)$ . Finally we assume that  $e^{iHt}$  is contained in the weak closure of  $\hat{U}$  in the vacuum representation, i.e. in passing from  $\hat{U}$  to  $\hat{A}$  we do not want to change the dynamics. This assumption that the Hamiltonian is "some function of the current" may be regarded as a weaker substitute for the Sugawara formula.

We will call an algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  with these specific properties a local extension of  $\hat{U}$ . Given such a local extension one can always produce other ones simply by passing to suitable subalgebras of  $\mathcal{A}$ . So an obvious question is: What are the maximal local extensions of  $\hat{U}$ ?

It is clear that the vacuum representation of any local extension  $\mathcal{A}$  of  $\hat{U}$  gives rise to a locally generated representation of  $\hat{U}$  in the sense of the definition given in Section 3A. Hence according to Proposition 3.1 any such  $\mathcal{A}$  can be realized as a subalgebra of the algebra of all (possibly Klein-transformed) charged fields  $\psi_{\rho}^{\zeta}$  on a suitable subspace of the universal space  $\hat{\mathcal{H}}$ .

We must therefore determine those fields  $\psi_{\rho}^{\zeta}$  ( $\zeta$  fixed for the moment) which are suited to generate local extensions of  $\hat{U}$ . As was discussed in Section 3B, all fields

1More precisely: we are looking for extensions of quotients of  $\hat{U}$  with respect to ideals  $\hat{Z}$  generated by suitable subalgebras of the center of  $\hat{U}$ . In the subsequent discussion  $\hat{U}$  is to be understood as some such quotient.

are relatively local to the current, so we will first examine which of these fields are relatively local with respect to themselves. (Recall that a Klein transformation does not change the commutation relations of fields carrying the same charge.)

Let  $g \in \mathbf{R}$  be fixed and let  $\rho_1, \rho_2$  be any two charge densities with support in disjoint intervals  $I_1, I_2$  of  $\mathbf{S}^1 \setminus \{\zeta\}$  and  $\rho_1[1] = \rho_2[1] = g$ . According to Proposition 3.4 we have the commutation relations

$$\psi_{\rho_1}^{\zeta} \psi_{\rho_2}^{\zeta} = e^{\pm ig^2 \pi} \psi_{\rho_2}^{\zeta} \psi_{\rho_1}^{\zeta}$$

$$\psi_{\rho_1}^{\zeta*} \psi_{\rho_2}^{\zeta} = e^{\mp ig^2 \pi} \psi_{\rho_2}^{\zeta*} \psi_{\rho_2}^{\zeta*}$$

$$(4.4)$$

where the sign in the exponent depends on the relative location of  $I_1$ ,  $I_2$ , and  $\zeta$ . Hence the fields of a given charge are local (on the punctured circle) if and only if

$$g^2=2N, N\in \mathbb{N}.$$

Since we are interested in maximal local extensions of  $\hat{U}$  we next ask ourselves whether the fields of charge g with  $g^2=2N$  can be complemented by fields of charge g' with  $g'^2=2N'$ ,  $N'\in \mathbb{N}$  such that the resulting algebra still contains only local fields. By taking products there will appear in this algebra fields carrying the charge g+g', and if these fields are also to be local with respect to themselves we must have that  $gg'\in \mathbb{N}$ . From this it follows that  $NN'=(N'')^2$  for some  $N''\in \mathbb{N}$ , and assuming without loss of generality that N'< N we conclude that N contains as a factor the square of some natural number M. (Since N>N', the number N must contain in its decomposition into primes some factor which is not contained in N'.) Under these circumstances the fields  $\psi^{\zeta}_{M^{-1}\rho}$  with  $\rho[1]=g$  are indeed local, and since there holds the "fusion rule"

$$(\psi_{M^{-1}\rho}^{\zeta})^M = \psi_{\rho}^{\zeta} \tag{4.5}$$

(cf. Proposition 3.4) they generate the fields of charge g. The existence of such extra local fields implies that our algebra of observables was not maximal yet. Thus the fields generating maximal local extensions of  $\hat{U}$  carry charges g for which  $N=\frac{1}{2}g^2$  contains in its decomposition into primes each prime factor at most once,

$$N = 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 10, \dots (4.6)$$

Up to now we have only considered the fields generating local extensions of  $\hat{U}$  on the punctured circle. We will now remove this defect by proceeding to a quotient of  $\hat{U}$  with respect to the ideal generated by a certain specific subalgebra of the center of  $\hat{U}$ . To this end let us have a look at the transition operators

$$\psi_{\alpha}^{\zeta_1}\psi_{\alpha}^{\zeta_2*} = e^{-\sigma i\pi g^2}e^{\sigma 2\pi igQ} \tag{4.7}$$

considered in Lemma 3.5. If  $g^2 = 2N$ , N a natural number, the phase factor on the right hand side disappears. Moreover, if we take the quotient of the \*-algebra generated by all fields  $\psi_{\rho}^{\zeta}$ ,  $\zeta \in \mathbf{S^1}$  and  $\rho[1] = g$ , with respect to the two sided ideal generated by  $[\epsilon^{2\pi i g Q} - 1]$ , the right hand side of (4.7) simply becomes the unit operator in that quotient. (Equivalently we may restrict the field operators and the current algebra to the subspace of  $\hat{\mathcal{H}}$  where the right hand side of (4.7) is equal to 1, cf. the subsequent subsection.) This quotient algebra clearly lives on the circle  $\mathbf{S^1}$  and not on its covering.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>If  $\Omega$  is cyclic it is of course separating for the vacuum representation of the algebras  $\mathcal{A}(I)$  because of locality. So what we exclude by this assumption is the possibility that the local algebras contain a two-sided ideal which is annihilated by  $\Omega$ . Phrased differently, we require that the vacuum representation is locally faithful. It may thus be regarded as the defining representation of the algebra of observables.

We have thus reached our goal: given any natural number N we consider the \*-algebra on  $\hat{\mathcal{H}}$  generated by all fields of charge  $g=(2N)^{\frac{1}{2}}$  and proceed to the quotient algebra with respect to the ideal  $\hat{\mathcal{Z}}_N$  generated by  $[-1+\exp(2\pi i(2N)^{\frac{1}{2}}Q)]$ . We then define for each interval  $I\subset \mathbf{S}^1$ 

$$\mathcal{A}_{N}(I) = \text{*-algebra } \{\psi_{\rho} : \operatorname{supp} \rho \subset I, \ \rho[1] = (2N)^{\frac{1}{2}}\}, \tag{4.8a}$$

where  $\psi_{\rho}$  denotes the class of  $\psi_{\rho}^{\zeta}$  with  $\zeta \notin I$ . The algebra  $\mathcal{A}_{N}$  is defined as the smallest algebra containing all local algebras  $\mathcal{A}_{N}(I)$ . It is spanned by its unitary elements  $\psi$ . These are of the form

$$\psi = \eta W(u) \Gamma_{\mathbf{g}}, \qquad \mathbf{g} \in \sqrt{2N} \mathbf{Z} \tag{4.8b}$$

where  $\eta$  is a complex phase factor, W(u) is a Weyl operator, and  $\Gamma_g$  are the charge shift operators, cp. Eqs. (3.19)f, (3.21a).

The time evolution on  $A_N$  acts on the generating elements  $\psi_\rho$  by

$$\alpha_t(\psi_\rho) = \psi_{\rho^1}. \tag{4.9}$$

Since we have taken in the above construction a quotient with respect to  $\hat{\mathcal{Z}}_N$ , the algebra  $\mathcal{A}_N$  is an extension of  $\hat{U}_N = \hat{U}/\hat{\mathcal{Z}}_N$ . It is obviously also a local extension of  $\hat{U}_N$  as may be seen from the discussion in the preceding section. In particular the algebras  $\mathcal{A}_N$  have a vacuum representation with the desired properties which is induced by the vector  $\Omega \in \hat{\mathcal{H}}$ .

It remains to discuss the question in which sense the algebras  $\mathcal{A}_N$  are maximal local extensions of  $\hat{U}_N$  if N contains each prime as a factor at most once. So given such N, let  $\mathcal{B}_N$  be another local extension of  $\hat{U}_N$  such that  $\mathcal{B}_N(I) \supset \mathcal{A}_N(I)$ ,  $I \subset S^1$ . It is then clear that in the vacuum representation of  $\mathcal{B}_N$  there will exist states with charge  $g = (2N)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ . Moreover, by the above discussion there cannot exist states carrying charges  $g' \notin g\mathbb{Z}$  because one cannot accomodate fields carrying such incommensurable charges in a system of local algebras. Thus the algebras  $\mathcal{A}_N$  and  $\mathcal{B}_N$  generate from the vacuum the same representation of  $\hat{U}$ . It then follows from the third part of Proposition 3.1 that the weak closures of the algebras  $\mathcal{A}_N(I)$  and  $\mathcal{B}_N(I)$ ,  $I \subset S^1$ , in the vacuum representation are related by a Klein transformation; thus they must be equal since  $\mathcal{B}_N(I) \supset \mathcal{A}_N(I)$ . Hence  $\mathcal{A}_N$  and  $\mathcal{B}_N$  generate the same system of local algebras in the (locally faithful) vacuum representation, and in this sense  $\mathcal{A}_N$  is maximal.

Proposition 4.1. The local extensions of the current algebra can be distinguished by the smallest nonzero eigenvalue of  $\frac{1}{2}Q^2$  in their respective vacuum representation. Any such eigenvalue is a natural number N, and the corresponding extension is generated by the dynamical system  $(A_N, \alpha_t)$ .  $A_N$  is the \*-algebra spanned by the fields  $\psi_\rho$  of charge  $g \in \sqrt{2N}\mathbf{Z}$  of Proposition 3.4 as described in Eqs. (4.8), and the time evolution automorphism is given by Eq. (4.9), viz.  $\alpha_t(\psi_\rho) = \psi_{\rho^t}$ .

If N contains each primefactor at most once then this extension is maximal.

We conclude this subsection with two remarks. Firstly we note that we could proceed further with the above construction and consider fermionic (half-integer spin) extensions of the current algebra corresponding to charges g for which  $g^2$  is an odd integer, etc. But these algebras will appear anyway in our discussion of the superselection structure of the algebras  $\mathcal{A}_N$  in the subsequent section.

To give a trivial example: the tensor product of  $\hat{U}$  with the algebra generated by the fields in an arbitrary local quantum field theory on the circle would then appear as a local extension of  $\hat{U}$ . Less trivial examples are obtained by embedding  $\hat{U}$  into certain Kac-Moody algebras for groups of rank > 1. On the other hand, for the Kac-Moody algebra corresponding to the simply laced Lie group SU(2) there holds a Sugawara formula for the energy density which involves only the U(1)-current. Hence the latter example provides a proper local extension of the current algebra. We will return to this example in Section 5.

# 4B. SUPERSELECTION STRUCTURE OF LOCAL EXTENSIONS

We were led to the dynamical systems  $(A_N, \alpha_t)$  by searching for extensions of the current algebra which can be regarded as algebras of local observables in some quantum field theory. In accord with this view we discuss now the superselection structure of  $(A_N, \alpha_t)$ , i.e. we analyze all its locally generated representations (in analogy to the corresponding problem for  $\hat{U}$ ) and the fields which make transitions between these representation spaces (= superselection sectors for  $A_N$ ).

We begin by noting that the algebra  $A_N$  still has a center. It is generated by the  $\mathbb{Z}_{2N}$ -charge

$$V = \exp(2\pi i Q(2N)^{-\frac{1}{2}}). \tag{4.10}$$

(Recall that  $V^{2N} = \exp(2\pi i Q(2N)^{\frac{1}{2}}) = 1$  in  $\mathcal{A}_{N\cdot}$ ) As we will see shortly, there exist locally generated representations of  $\mathcal{A}_{N}$  which can be distinguished by this (multiplicative) charge. In fact, the eigenvalues of V distinguish all superselection sectors of the theory. Thus, since V commutes with all observables, it generates a gauge group  $\mathbb{Z}_{2N}$  of the theory and different superselection sectors transform according to different representations of this gauge group.

Since  $\hat{U}_N \subset \mathcal{A}_N$  and since in the (locally faithful) vacuum representation of  $\mathcal{A}_N$  the dynamics  $\alpha_t$  can be implemented by time translations in the weak closure of  $\hat{U}_N$  any locally generated representation of  $\mathcal{A}_N$  gives also rise to a locally generated representation of  $\hat{U}$  in which the \*-algebra  $\hat{\mathcal{Z}}_N$  generated by  $[-1 + \exp(2\pi i (2N)^{\frac{1}{2}}Q)]$  is represented by 0. Thus we can rely once again on Proposition 3.1 telling us that each locally generated representation of  $\mathcal{A}_N$  can be realized on some subspace of our universal representation of  $\hat{U}$ . Since the operator  $\exp(2\pi i (2N)^{\frac{1}{2}}Q)$  must be represented by 1 the maximal representation space for  $\mathcal{A}_N$  is thus the subspace of  $\hat{\mathcal{H}}$  on which Q has the spectrum  $(2N)^{-\frac{1}{2}}\mathbf{Z}$ . Bearing in mind that the algebra  $\mathcal{A}_N$  contains operators which change the charge of a state by  $\pm(2N)^{\frac{1}{2}}$  we conclude that there exist exactly 2N superselection sectors for  $\mathcal{A}_N$  (including the vacuum sector) which can be distinguished by the eigenvalues

$$e^{i\pi n/N}, \qquad n=0,1,\ldots,2N-1$$
 (4.11)

of the operator V defined in (4.10).

It remains to show that these sectors are locally generated, i.e. we have to exhibit field operators carrying the "elementary" charge  $(2N)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  which are relatively local

to the fields generating the algebras  $A_N$ . It is clear from the commutation relations (3.41) that the fields  $\psi_{\rho}^{\zeta}$ , with  $\rho[1] = (2N)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  in our canonical field bundle do not have this property. But if we perform a Klein transformation and define

$$\phi_{\rho}^{\zeta} = \epsilon^{i\pi Q(2N)^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \psi_{\rho}^{\zeta}, \qquad \rho[1] = (2N)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \tag{4.12}$$

it is easily seen that these new fields are relatively local to the fields generating  $A_N$ . This proves that the above representations are locally generated. We remark that conjugation with these fields yields outer automorphisms of the algebras  $A_N$ , and the fields could be recovered from these automorphisms in the manner described in Section 1B.

The commutation relations of fields  $\phi_{\rho}^{\zeta}$  of the same charge  $\rho[1]$  are unaffected by the Klein transformation and are therefore the same as those of the original fields  $\psi_{\rho}^{\zeta}$ . Thus if  $\rho_1[1] = \rho_2[1] = (2N)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  and  $\rho_1, \rho_2$  have disjoint support on  $\mathbf{S}^1 \setminus \{\zeta\}$  we have

$$\phi_{\rho_1}^{\zeta}\phi_{\rho_2}^{\zeta} = c^{\pm i\pi/2N}\phi_{\rho_2}^{\zeta}\phi_{\rho_1}^{\zeta} 
\phi_{\rho_1}^{\zeta*}\phi_{\rho_2}^{\zeta} = c^{\mp i\pi/2N}\phi_{\rho_2}^{\zeta*}\phi_{\rho_1}^{\zeta*}$$
(4.13)

where the sign in the exponent depends on the relative location of the supports of  $\rho_1, \rho_2$  and of  $\zeta$ .

It is also noteworthy that, using the time translations U(t) defined in (3.52), (3.11), one can extend the fields  $\phi_{\rho}^{\zeta}$  to the 4N-fold covering of  $S^1$  by setting for arbitrary  $t \in \mathbf{R}$ 

$$\phi_{\rho}(t) = \alpha_{t}(\phi_{\rho}) = U(t)\phi_{\rho}^{\zeta}U(t)^{-1}.$$
 (4.14)

According to Lemma 3.5 this definition of  $\phi_{\rho}$  does not depend on  $\zeta$ . Moreover it follows from that lemma that

$$\alpha_{2\pi}(\phi_{\rho}) = e^{-i\pi/2N} V \phi_{\rho}, \tag{4.15}$$

where V is the  $\mathbf{Z}_{2N}$ -charge defined in (4.10). From this relation we see in particular that the univalence automorphism  $\alpha_{2\pi}$  is generated by

$$e^{2\pi i H} = e^{i\pi Q^2}. (4.16)$$

Of course this operator can also be expressed as a linear combination of the operators  $V^k$ , k = 1, ..., 2N which generate the center of  $A_N$ .

We conclude this section with the remark that the algebras  $A_N$  corresponding to even N admit an alternative interpretation as even part of a fermionic (half-integer spin) field algebra  $\mathcal{F}_N$ . Indeed, if N/2 is odd we can define  $\mathcal{F}_N$  as the \*-algebra generated by the canonical fields  $\psi_{\rho}^{i}$ ,  $\rho[1] = (N/2)^{\frac{1}{2}}$  of Section 3 which live on a two-fold covering of  $\mathbf{S}^1$ . The lowest weight states (ground states) of  $A_N$  corresponding to the values of  $e^{i\pi n/N}$ ,  $n=0,1,\ldots N-1$  of the multiplicative charge then induce inequivalent representations of the field algebra  $\mathcal{F}_N$ . In representations corresponding to even n the univalence automorphism  $\alpha_{2\pi}$  maps  $\psi_{\rho}$  into  $-\psi_{\rho}$  ("Neveu Schwarz sectors") whereas in representations corresponding to odd n this automorphism acts trivially ("Ramond sectors"). It distinguishes between spin structures [37].

#### 5A. Construction of quantum fields

The algebraic approach to quantum field theory is based on the insight that for the physical interpretation of a theory it is not really necessary to have any a priori information about the physical significance of individual local operators (fields, currents, stress energy tensor etc.). All this information is already encoded in the map assigning to the regions of configuration space certain specific "local" subalgebras of the algebra of all observables, and in the action of the dynamics.

So from this point of view we have already achieved a complete classification of quantum field theories which are related to the current algebra: Given the local observables in such a theory in the vacuum representation one simply has to determine the lowest nonzero eigenvalue of  $Q^2/2$ , which is some natural number N. The associated map

$$I \mapsto \mathcal{A}_N(I)$$

which fixes the corresponding system of local algebras, is then given by relation (4.8), and the dynamics by the relation (4.9).

Yet in order to make contact with the more conventional treatments of local quantum field theory which are based on quantum fields localized at a point we want to discuss now how such fields appear in the present setting. The basic idea is very simple: starting from the unitary charged field operators  $\psi_{\rho}^{\zeta}$  of Section 3 we will go to the limit of charge densities  $\rho$  which have support at a point. In doing so we must of course pay tribute to the fact that there do not exist bounded field operators which are localized at a point. We must therefore "renormalize" the operators  $\psi_{\rho}^{\zeta}$  by a factor  $R_{\rho}$  which tends to infinity, and the limits can then be defined as operator-valued distributions. (This procedure is of course not new, cp. for instance [38] and references quoted there.)

We proceed as follows. First we put  $\zeta = -1$  and choose a sequence of functions  $\delta_{\lambda} \in S$  localized in an interval of length  $\lambda$  about  $1 \in \mathbf{S}^{1}$ , which goes in the limit  $\lambda \searrow 0$  to the Dirac measure  $\delta(z-1)$ . In order to simplify the notation we set for given charge  $g \in \mathbf{R}$ 

$$\phi_{g,\lambda}(t) = R_{g,\lambda}\alpha_t(\psi_{\sigma\delta_\lambda}^{\zeta=-1}), \qquad t \in \mathbf{R}$$
 (5.1)

where  $R_{g,\lambda}$  is a renormalization constant which we fix by the condition

$$(\Gamma_g \Omega, \phi_{g,\lambda}(0)\Omega) = 1. \tag{5.2}$$

Here  $\Gamma_g$  are the charge shift operators introduced in Section 3. An easy calculation, based on the relation (3.10) and Lemma 2.2 gives

$$R_{g,\lambda} = \exp\left(\frac{g^2}{2} \left[\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{m} |(\tilde{\delta}_{\lambda})_m|^2 - \int \frac{dz}{2\pi i} \delta_{\lambda}(z) \ln z\right]\right). \tag{5.3}$$

Since  $(\tilde{\delta}_{\lambda})_m$  converges to 1 if  $\delta_{\lambda}$  approaches  $\delta(z-1)$  this expression clearly diverges if  $\lambda$  tends to 0.

We could now go on to show that for any test function h the limit

$$\phi_g(h) = \lim_{\lambda \to 0} \int dt \, h(t) \phi_{g,\lambda}(t) \tag{5.4}$$

exists on a suitable domain in  $\mathcal{H}$  and defines an operator-valued distribution  $\phi_g(.)$ . It is however more instructive to compute the vacuum correlation functions of the fields  $\phi_g(.)$ , and then appeal to the GNS-construction for the reconstruction of the field operators.

Let us fix charges  $g_1, \ldots g_n \in \mathbf{R}$  and calculate

$$W_{\lambda}(g_1, t_1; \dots; g_n, t_n) = (\Omega, \phi_{g_1, \lambda}(t_1) \dots \phi_{g_n, \lambda}(t_n)\Omega)$$
 (5.5)

for non-coinciding arguments  $t_i$ ,  $-\pi < t_i < \pi$ , i = 1, ..., n. For these special configurations the limit  $\lambda > 0$  exists in the sense of equicontinuous functions; the result can then be extended to arbitrary points as a tempered distribution by analytic continuation, making use of energy positivity.

From the definition of the charged fields  $\psi_{\rho}^{\zeta}$ , the composition law of the Weyl operators, and the action of the group of charge shift operators  $\Gamma_g$  on the Weyl operators W(f) it is obvious that

$$\phi_{g_1,\lambda}(t_1)\dots\phi_{g_n,\lambda}(t_n) = \xi \prod_{j=1}^n R_{g_j,\lambda}W(g_1\widehat{\delta_{\lambda}^{t_1}} + \dots + g_n\widehat{\delta_{\lambda}^{t_n}})\Gamma_{g_1+\dots+g_n},$$
 (5.6)

where  $\xi$  is some phase factor. The actual calculation of  $\xi$  simplifies if one assumes that  $g_1 + \cdots + g_n = 0$  (otherwise,  $\mathcal{W}_{\lambda}$  vanishes anyway) and that  $\lambda$  is so small that the densities  $\delta_{\lambda}^{i_j}$ ,  $j = 1 \dots n$  have disjoint supports. Under the latter assumption we can apply Lemma 3.3 which, together with relation (3.50) yields

$$A(\widehat{\delta_{\lambda}^{t_{j}}}, \widehat{\delta_{\lambda}^{t_{k}}}) = -i\pi \operatorname{sign} t_{jk} + it_{jk}$$
(5.7)

where we have put

$$t_{jk}=t_j-t_k.$$

After these preparations it is straightforward to establish by induction in n the form of  $\xi$ :

$$\xi = \exp\left(i\frac{\pi}{2}\sum_{j\leq k}g_jg_k\operatorname{sign}t_{jk}\right). \tag{5.8}$$

By taking matrix elements of the expressions in relation (5.6) in the vacuum state we thus find that

$$\mathcal{W}_{\lambda}(g_1, t_1; \dots; g_n, t_n) = \prod_{j=1}^n R_{g_j, \lambda} \exp\left(i\frac{\pi}{2} \sum_{j < k} g_j g_k \operatorname{sign} t_{jk} - \frac{1}{2} || \sum_j g_j \widehat{\delta_{\lambda}^{i_j}}||^2\right), \tag{5.9}$$

where the square of the norm is given by (cf. Lemma 2.2)

$$||\sum_{j} g_{j} \widehat{\delta_{\lambda}^{t_{j}}}||^{2} = \sum_{j,k} g_{j} g_{k} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{m} |(\bar{\delta}_{\lambda})_{m}|^{2} \cos m t_{jk}.$$
 (5.10)

Plugging the specific form of the renormalization constants  $R_{g,\lambda}$  into relation (5.9) we can now proceed to the limit  $\lambda \searrow 0$ , giving

$$\mathcal{W}_0(g_1, t_1; \dots; g_n, t_n) = \exp\left(\sum_{j \le k} g_j g_k \left[i \frac{\pi}{2} \operatorname{sign} t_{jk} - 2 \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{\cos m t_{jk}}{m}\right]\right).$$

$$(5.11)$$

Summing up the series of cosines in (5.11)

$$2\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{\cos m\tau}{m} = -\ln(4\sin^2\frac{\tau}{2}). \tag{5.12}$$

we are finally led to the result

$$W_0(g_1, t_1; \dots; g_n, t_n) = \prod_{j \le k} \left(-4\sin^2 \frac{t_{jk} - i\epsilon}{2}\right)^{g_j g_k/2}.$$
 (5.13)

Here we have added  $-i\epsilon$  to the time differences, thereby defining the integration rules for coinciding arguments in accord with energy positivity.

The expectation values of fields in lowest weight states  $\Omega_e$  of charge e can be obtained from (5.13) with the help of the action of the automorphism

$$\Gamma_e^* \phi_a(t) \Gamma_e = e^{iegt} \phi_a(t) \tag{5.14}$$

and the formula  $\Omega_e = \Gamma_e \Omega$ .

Since  $\phi_g(t)^* = \phi_{-g}(t)$ , as can be seen from relation (5.1) and (3.42) we thus have completed our computation of the n-point functions of the charged quantum fields which were generated by the unitary field operators of Section 3.

The expert will recognize that we have recovered the known explicit formula for the n-point functions of the U(1)-vertex operators that generalize the n-point functions of the Thirring model to systems with an arbitrary number of different charges. A better known version of (5.13) is obtained by introducing the "z-picture fields"

$$\psi_g(z) = e^{-ig^2t/2}\phi_g(t), \qquad z = e^{it}.$$
 (5.15a)

The n-point functions of these fields are given by

$$(\Omega, \psi_{g_1}(z_1) \dots \psi_{g_n}(z_n)\Omega) = \prod_{i \le k} z_{jk}^{g_i g_k}, \tag{5.15b}$$

where  $z_{jk} = z_j - z_k$  and the rules for approaching the singularities are summarized by

$$|z_1| > |z_2| > \cdots > |z_n|.$$
 (5.16)

Of course, the operators  $\psi_g(z)$  and their expectation values are to be understood as multivalued functions of z. We also note that the adjoints of the z-picture fields are given by

$$\psi_{g}^{*}(z) = z^{-g^{2}} \psi_{-g}(z^{-1}). \tag{5.17}$$

It follows from these results that  $\psi_g$  is a primary field with respect to both the Virasoro and the current algebra, with all its well known consequences (cf. for example [39]). We have thus rediscovered the structure which one normally anticipates in the investigation of conformal quantum field theories. It appears in the present setting as a byproduct of our systematic investigation of all locally generated representations of the current algebra.

Besides the above quantum fields  $\psi_g(z)$ , further ones can be constructed in a systematic fashion. For instance, the current J(z) is limit of the renormalized

expression  $R[e^{iJ(u)}-1]=R[W(u)-1]$  in an obvious way, and so on. The multiplication law (3.40) in the algebra will determine the operator product expansions for the quantum fields, for instance

$$\psi_g(z_1)\psi_{-g}(z_2)=z_{12}^{-g^2}\{1+gz_{12}J(z)+...\},\ z=\sqrt{z_1z_2}.$$

Operator product expansions do not converge as operators, but only when applied to the vacuum. Therefore they are not really a multiplication law of an algebra in manifest form (although they determine it indirectly, because they determine all Wightman functions [40]). In this respect the multiplication law in  $\mathcal{F}$  is superior.

# 5B. EXAMPLES

We conclude our discussion of quantum fields by considering a few examples of models giving rise to specific local extensions  $A_N$  of the current algebra.

N=1: Our first example, already mentioned, is the  $\widehat{su(2)}$  Kac-Moody algebra with Kac-Moody central charge 1 ("level 1"):

$$[J_a(z_1), J_b(z_2)] = i\epsilon_{abc}J_c(z_1)\delta(z_{12}) - \frac{1}{2}\delta_{ab}\delta'(z_{12})$$
 (5.18)

where a, b, c = 1, 2, 3. With the identification

$$J(z) = \sqrt{2}J_3(z) \tag{5.19}$$

we see that this algebra is an extension of  $\hat{U}$ . It is in fact a local extension fitting into our setting since the stress energy tensor T(z) can be expressed in terms of J(z)

$$T(z) = \frac{1}{2} : J(z)^{2} : .$$
 (5.20)

It is easy to see that this algebra generates  $A_1$ . We must only show that the smallest nonzero eigenvalue of  $Q^2/2$  is 1. But this is clear from the isospin commutation relations of the charges  $Q_{\alpha}$  which are obtained by integrating the currents  $J_{\alpha}(z)$ .

In the present case one sees also directly that the isospin currents  $J_a(z)$  generate  $A_1$ : setting

$$\psi(z) = J_1(z) + iJ_2(z) \tag{5.21}$$

it follows from the commutation relations (5.18) that  $\psi$  is a local field carrying the charge  $g = \sqrt{2}$ . One can thus construct from  $\psi, \psi^*$ , and J the system of local algebras making up  $\mathcal{A}_1$ .

From the discussion in Section 4 we know that in the present model there does exist besides the vacuum sector another superselection sector in which the multiplicative charge  $e^{2\pi i Q/\sqrt{2}}$  takes the value -1. This is of course the set of states with half-integer isospin which can be generated from the vacuum by the (Klein transformed) quantum field  $\psi_{1/\sqrt{2}}(z)$  constructed in the preceding subsection.

N=2: The theory of a free complex Fermi field & is perhaps the simplest example providing an extension of the current algebra: from its field-current commutation relations

$$[J(z_1), \psi(z_2)] = \delta(z_{12})\psi(z_1)$$
 (5.22)

one sees that the even polynomials in the smeared Fermi fields  $\psi, \psi^*$  create from the vacuum states with charges in 2Z. Hence they generate the local extension  $A_2$ .

According to the discussion in Section 4 there exist 4 different superselection sectors for  $A_2$  which may be distinguished by the eigenvalues  $\pm 1, \pm i$  of the multiplicative charge  $e^{i\pi Q}$ . Of special interest are the sectors corresponding to the imaginary eigenvalues. It is well known, and also clear from our results, that these states can be created from the vacuum with the help of a field of charge  $\frac{1}{2}$  (conformal weight  $\frac{1}{8}$ ), and they induce representations of the Fermi algebra in which the fields are single-valued on the circle (Ramond sector).

N=3: The algebra  $\mathcal{A}_3$  appears for example in the Z<sub>4</sub>-parafermion current algebra analyzed by Zamolodchikov and Fateev [41]. This model is generated by a complex primary field  $\psi$  of weight  $\frac{3}{4}$  which obeys anticommutation relations with the current

$$[J(z_1), \psi(z_2)]_+ = \sqrt{\frac{3}{2}} \delta(z_{12}) \psi(z_1)^*, \qquad (5.23)$$

and there holds a Sugawara formula for the stress tensor involving only J. By applying all even polynomials in the smeared fields  $\psi, \psi^*$  to the vacuum we thus obtain a representation of the current algebra which is locally generated. From (5.23) we see furthermore that the spectrum of the charge operator Q in this representation is  $\sqrt{6}\mathbf{Z}$ . Hence the even polynomials in  $\psi, \psi^*$  generate the local extension  $\mathcal{A}_3$  of the current algebra.

It is noteworthy that the fields  $\psi$  in this model can also be accommodated in the present setting by applying to the basic fields constructed in Section 3A a generalized Klein transformation<sup>1</sup>. Denoting by  $C = C^* = C^{-1}$  the charge conjugation operator which acts on the Weyl operators W(u) and the basic fields  $\psi_g$  according to

$$CW(u)C^{-1} = W(-u), \qquad C\psi_{\sigma}C^{-1} = \psi_{-\sigma},$$
 (5.24)

one can represent the Zamolodchikov-Fateev-field w by

$$\psi = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (\psi_g + i\psi_{-g}) C, \qquad g = \sqrt{\frac{3}{2}}.$$
 (5.25)

From this equation one easily recovers the  $\mathbf{Z}_4$  symmetry of the model by first noting that there exists a unitary operator V (in the vacuum representation of  $\psi_{\pm g}$ ) such that

$$V\psi_{\pm g}CV^{-1} = \pm \psi_{\pm g}C. \tag{5.26}$$

It is then obvious that

$$VC\psi CV^{-1} = i\psi, (5.27)$$

hence the map  $\gamma(\psi) = i\psi$  defines an automorphism of the \*-algebra generated by the field  $\psi$ . Since  $\gamma^4$  is the identity, this automorphism induces the symmetry group  $\mathbf{Z}_4$ .

N=4: The algebra  $A_4$  is the first example of a local extension of the current algebra which is not maximal. It can be identified with a subalgebra of the algebra  $A_1$ . In the concrete example of the  $\widehat{su(2)}$  Kac-Moody algebra discussed above it is the algebra generated by all even polynomials of the currents  $J_1, J_2$ , which in view of the commutation relations

$$[J_1(z_1), J_2(z_2)] = i\delta(z_{12})J_3(z_1)$$
(5.28)

<sup>1</sup> We owe this remark to R. Paunov.

provide also a local extension of the current algebra.

According to our general results there exist 8 superselection sectors for this algebra which can be labeled by the eigenvalues of  $e^{i\pi Q_1}\sqrt{2}$ . Thus for  $A_4$  there exist besides the superselection sectors with (half-) integer isospin also sectors in which the component  $Q_3$  of the isospin has the eigenvalues  $\frac{1}{4}, \frac{3}{4}$ , etc. (giving rise to the so-called "twisted sector" of su(2) [14]). This fact can be understood if one notices that the algebra  $A_4$  consists of the fixed points in  $A_1$  under rotations by  $\pi$  around the 3-axis in isospin space.

At this point we terminate our discussion of examples since we think it has become clear now how our results can be used for a quick survey of the local algebraic structure and the superselection rules in concrete models.

We would like to point out that all extensions  $\mathcal{A}_N$  can be realized in a unified manner [32]: they appear as coset space models (in the sense of Goddard, Kent and Olive [42]) for the homogeneous spaces  $SO(4N)_1/SO(2N)_2$ , where the subscript indicates the Kac-Moody level. For other approaches to the classification of c=1 models cf. [43,44,45]. So from the point of view of "model building" we have discovered nothing new (see also [46]). But we have seen how these algebraic structures emerge in a systematic manner from the underlying germ: the current algebra.

# VI. CHARACTERS OF LOWEST WEIGHT REPRESENTATIONSAND THE KMS-CONDITION

A popular way of merging chiral (right or left moving) field theories on the circle to a 2-dimensional field theory is based on the principle of modular invariance. Roughly speaking, this principle amounts to the requirement that the resulting (Euclidean) field theory, which lives on a torus, should be invariant under reparametrizations. As a consequence, the corresponding (Minkowski) quantum field theory is local.

For the actual application of this method one needs to know the characters of the underlying chiral theories. These characters are then combined into a partition function  $Z(\tau)$ ,  $\tau$  being the ratio of the periods of the lattice defining the torus of the Euclidean theory, which is invariant under modular transformations. The latter constraint restricts the admissible weight factors of the various characters contributing to the partition function and thus fixes the Hilbert spaces of the 2-dimensional theories. (For an alternative approach to the construction of 2-dimensional theories from one-dimensional constituents see the recent work of Fröhlich, and Schroer and Rehren [17,18].)

In this section we want to point out how the character of the chiral theories can easily be computed within our algebraic setting. We shall exploit the correspondence between finite size Euclidean theories (in the imaginary time direction) and finite temperature Minkowski space quantum field theories, to write down

$$\tau = \frac{i}{2\pi}\beta \tag{6.1}$$

where  $\beta$  is the inverse temperature (which will ultimately be treated as a complex variable with a positive real part). This leads us to consider Gibbs-states (KMS-states) on the algebras which we have constructed.

6A, KMS-STATES ON AN

Given a representation of the algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  on a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  a Gibbs states of inverse temperature  $\mathcal{B}$  is given by the following formula (if it makes sense)

$$\omega_{\beta}(A) = Z^{-1} Tr_{\mathcal{H}} \epsilon^{-\beta H} A, \qquad A \in \mathcal{A}$$
 (6.2)

where H is the Hamiltonian, Z is the partition function, and the trace has to be taken over the representation space  $\mathcal{H}$ . It is of interest here that for the actual computation of the state  $\omega_{\beta}$  it is not necessary to determine the spectral properties of the operator  $\epsilon^{-\beta H}$  and then to evaluate the trace. The crucial observation [33] is that the Gibbs states can also be characterized by the Kubo-Martin-Schwinger (KMS) condition: it says that for all  $A, B \in \mathcal{A}$  the functions  $\omega_{\beta} \left( A \alpha_t(B) \right)$  and  $\omega_{\beta} \left( \alpha_t(B) A \right) - t \in \mathbf{R}$  are boundary values at the lower and upper rim of the strip

$$S_{\beta} = \{z : 0 \leq Imz \leq \beta\},\$$

respectively, of a function  $F_{AB}$  which is analytic in the interior of that strip and continuous at the boundaries. In a somewhat sloppy but suggestive notation we thus have that

$$\omega_{\beta}(A\alpha_{t+i\beta}(B)) = \omega_{\beta}(\alpha_{t}(B)A). \tag{6.3}$$

This condition is an immediate consequence of the relation (6.2) since H is bounded below and the trace is cyclic. Note that it also makes sense in situations where the individual terms on the right hand side of relation (6.2) are ill-defined (i.e. if the operator  $e^{-\beta H}$  is not trace class).

Relation (6.3) can be used for the calculation of the possible finite temperature states  $\omega_{\beta}$  if the algebraic structure of  $\mathcal{A}$  is sufficiently simple, as is the case for the Kac-Moody algebras and the Virasoro algebra, for instance. The basic strategy is as follows.

Assume that there is a simple algebraic relation between the operators  $\alpha_t(B)A$  and  $A\alpha_t(B)$ . To give an example: let the commutator of these operators be a multiple of the identity C(t)1, as is the case for the currents in the present model. Then one rewrites relation (6.3) according to

$$\omega_{\beta}(A\alpha_{t+i\beta}(B)) = \omega_{\beta}([\alpha_{t}(B), A]) + \omega_{\beta}(A\alpha_{t}(B))$$

$$= C(t) + \omega_{\beta}(A\alpha_{t}(B)).$$
(6.4)

Here we have used the fact that  $\omega_{\beta}(1) = 1$ . So one obtains an inhomogeneous functional equation for the function  $t \mapsto \omega_{\beta}(A\alpha_{t}(B))$ , and this equation can be solved by Fourier transformation.

In the case of the Kac-Moody algebras or the Virasoro algebra the commutator of the basic fields is not a c-number, but it is linear in these fields. So the first equation in (6.4) provides a recursive relation between the n-point functions and the (n-1)-point functions which can likewise be solved in these models.

This method of computation is well known in statistical mechanics [47]. We apply it here to the algebras  $A_N$  and begin by determining the KMS-states of  $\hat{U}$ . Since we are dealing with the exponentials of the currents we will use as our starting

point a multiplicative version of (6.4): if A and B are Weyl operators, then it follows from the composition law (2.6) that

$$\alpha_t(B)A = \eta(t)A\alpha_t(B) \tag{6.5}$$

where  $\eta(t)$  is some explicitly known phase factor. Hence the multiplicative analogue of relation (6.4) is

$$\omega_{\beta}(A\alpha_{t+i\beta}(B)) = \eta(t)\omega_{\beta}(A\alpha_{t}(B)). \tag{6.6}$$

We will determine in Appendix A the solutions of this equation. The result is the following counterpart of Lemma 2.2.

LEMMA 6.1. Let  $\omega_{\beta}$  be a regular KMS-state on  $(\hat{U}, \alpha_t)$  at inverse temperature  $\beta > 0$ . Then there exists some positive normalized measure  $\sigma$  on  $\mathbf{R}$  such that for  $u \in \mathcal{S}$  (with Fourier components  $\hat{u}_n$ )

$$\omega_{\beta}(W(u)) = \int d\sigma(g') \exp\left(ig'\tilde{u}_0 - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n \coth\frac{n\beta}{2}|\tilde{u}_n|^2\right). \tag{6.7a}$$

Conversely, given any positive normalized measure  $\sigma$  on  $\mathbf{R}$ , then the functional  $\omega_{\beta}$  fixed by Eq. (6.7a) determines a KMS-state on  $\hat{U}$ .

For future use we record

COROLLARY. Let  $u_{\pm}(z) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \tilde{u}_{\mp n} z^{\pm n}$ . Then  $\omega_{\beta}(W(u_{-})W(u_{+}))$  is the same for all KMS-states of inverse temperature  $\beta$  on  $\hat{U}$  and is given by

$$\omega_{\beta}(W(u_{-})W(u_{+})) = \exp\left(-\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{m}{\epsilon^{m\beta} - 1} \tilde{u}_{-m} \tilde{u}_{m}\right). \tag{6.7b}$$

As in the case of ground states we can read off relation (6.7a) the central decomposition of the states  $\omega_{\beta}$  into states with a definite value g' of the charge Q. (Of course these latter states are no longer pure states on  $\hat{U}$  if  $\beta < \infty$ ).

We will use this result for the computation of all KMS-states on the algebra  $\mathcal{A}_N$ . To this end let us show that these states are "gauge invariant": let  $\psi_{\rho} \in \mathcal{A}_N$  be any unitary field operator<sup>1</sup> with charge  $g = \rho[1] \neq 0$ , and let  $\omega_{\beta}$  be any KMS-state on  $\mathcal{A}_N$ . Since the operators  $e^{i\lambda Q}$  (being elements of the center of  $\hat{U}$ ) are invariant under time translations  $\alpha_L$  and since

$$\epsilon^{i\lambda Q}\psi_{\rho} = \epsilon^{i\lambda g}\psi_{\rho}\epsilon^{i\lambda Q} \tag{6.8}$$

we obtain from the KMS-condition (6.3) the relation

$$\omega_{\beta}(\psi_{\rho}\epsilon^{i\lambda Q}) = \omega_{\beta}(\epsilon^{i\lambda Q}\psi_{\rho}) = \epsilon^{i\lambda g}\omega_{\beta}(\psi_{\rho}\epsilon^{i\lambda Q}) \tag{6.9}$$

for arbitrary  $\lambda \in \mathbf{R}$ . But  $g \neq 0$ , so we see that for small  $\lambda \neq 0$  the left hand side of Eq. (6.9) must vanish. Hence, by continuity in  $\lambda$ 

$$\omega_{\beta}(\psi_{\rho}) = 0 \qquad \text{if } g \neq 0. \tag{6.10}$$

The gauge invariant (zero charge) operators in  $\mathcal{A}_N$  are just the elements of  $\hat{U}$ , so the calculation of the KMS-states on  $\mathcal{A}_N$  boils down to the determination of the measure  $d\sigma(g)$  in relation (6.7).

Let us now remember that  $\mathcal{A}_N$  has a nontrivial center whose unitary elements are powers of  $V=e^{2\pi iQ/\sqrt{2N}}$ . They form the group  $\mathbf{Z}_{2N}$ . A general KMS-state on  $\mathcal{A}_N$  is a convex combination of "primary" states which transform according to an irreducible representation of  $\mathbf{Z}_{2N}$ , viz.

$$\omega_{\beta}(\epsilon^{2\pi iQ/\sqrt{2N}}A) = \epsilon^{2\pi ie/\sqrt{2N}}\omega_{\beta}(A). \tag{6.10a}$$

The representations of  $\mathbf{Z}_{2N}$  are labeled by

$$\epsilon = n/\sqrt{2N}, \quad n = 0, 1, \dots, 2N - 1.$$

It suffices thus to consider the primary states which obey Eq. (6.10a). We will call them "states of charge e" for short. The existence of such a central decomposition into primary states can be derived purely from the KMS-condition, similarly as in Section 4B. If we assume that the KMS-state is given by the trace formula (6.2) then the decomposition amounts to a decomposition of  $\mathcal{H}$  into subspaces which carry irreducible representations of  $\mathcal{A}_N$ .

The covariance property (6.10a) for a state of charge e is consistent with representation (6.7a) of this state only if the measure  $d\sigma(g')$  has the form

$$d\sigma(g') = \sum_{n} w_n \delta(g' - ng - \epsilon) dg', \qquad g = \sqrt{2N}.$$
 (6.10b)

So it remains to determine the relative weights  $w_n$  in this sum.

To this end it suffices to exploit the KMS-condition for the operators  $\psi_{\rho}^* \alpha_t(\psi_{\rho})$ ,  $\rho[1] = g$ . From the definition (3.36) of the operators  $\psi_{\rho}$  and of the dynamics  $\alpha_t$  in (3.52) we obtain

$$\psi_{\rho}^{*}\alpha_{t}(\psi_{\rho}) = \epsilon^{igQt+ig^{2}t/2}W(\hat{\rho})^{*}\alpha_{t}(W(\hat{\rho}))$$

$$\alpha_{t}(\psi_{\rho})\psi_{\rho}^{*} = \epsilon^{igQt-ig^{2}t/2}\alpha_{t}(W(\hat{\rho}))W(\hat{\rho})^{*}.$$
(6.11)

The crucial observation is that the operators  $W(\hat{\rho})^*\alpha_t(W(\hat{\rho}))$  and  $\alpha_t(W(\hat{\rho}))W(\hat{\rho})^*$  commute with the charge shift operator  $\Gamma_{g'}$ . This is true because the exponentials of Q in the two Weyl operators just cancel since the time translations act trivially on the center of  $\hat{U}$ . Hence if  $\omega_{\beta}$  is any KMS-state on  $\mathcal{A}_N$  we have in view of Lemma 6.1 that

$$\omega_{\beta}(\psi_{\rho}^{*}\alpha_{t}(\psi_{\rho})) = e^{ig^{2}t/2}F(t)\omega_{\beta}(W(\hat{\rho})^{*}\alpha_{t}(W(\hat{\rho}))$$

$$\omega_{\beta}(\alpha_{t}(\psi_{\rho})\psi_{\rho}^{*}) = e^{-ig^{2}t/2}F(t)\omega_{\beta}(\alpha_{t}(W(\hat{\rho}))W(\hat{\rho})^{*})$$
(6.11a)

where we have put

$$F(t) = \omega_{\beta}(\epsilon^{igQt}) = \int d\sigma(g')\epsilon^{ig'gt}. \tag{6.12}$$

From the assumption that  $\omega_{\beta}$  satisfies the KMS-condition on  $\mathcal{A}_N$  and the fact that the analytic continuation of the function  $t\mapsto \omega_{\beta}\big(W(\hat{\rho})^*\alpha_t(W(\hat{\rho}))\big)$  vanishes nowhere on the strip  $S_{\beta}$  (as can be seen from relation (6.7a)) it thus follows that F(t)

We will work again with the unitary field operators since we do not want to worry about domain problems. The computations are as simple as with the unbounded quantum fields at a point.

can be analytically continued to  $S_3$ . Moreover, from the KMS-boundary condition we see that

$$F(t+i\beta) = e^{-ig^2t+g^2\beta/2}F(t). \tag{6.13}$$

Proceeding to the Fourier transformation of this equation (in the sense of distributions) and plugging in the specific form of the measure  $\sigma$ , Eq. (6.10b), we find that the weights  $w_n$  in this measure must satisfy the recursion relation

$$w_{n+1} = w_n e^{-\beta (g(n+\frac{1}{2})+\epsilon)g}.$$

Its solution is

$$w_n = w^0 e^{-\beta(ng-e)^2/2} \tag{6.14}$$

and  $w^0$  is determined by the requirement that the measure  $\sigma$  is normalized, viz.

$$\sum_{\mathbf{n}} w_{\mathbf{n}} = 1. \tag{6.10c}$$

Having determined the measure  $\sigma$  one can now compute the expectation values of arbitrary products of the unitary field operators in the state  $\omega_{\beta}$ . The result is zero unless the sum of the charges of the fields is 0. For zero charge the product is equal to a Weyl operator by the multiplication law in  $\mathcal{A}_N$ . The explicit form of the KMS-state on Weyl operators can then be used. As in the case of lowest weight states one can obtain the correlation functions of the quantum fields (fields at a point) by proceeding to charge densities which are localized at a point. For the purpose of this calculation it is convenient to determine the above mentioned Weyl operator by making repeated use of the relation (6.11). We omit the trivial details of the calculation.

Let us briefly discuss how these results have to be modified if one changes the dynamics  $\alpha_t$  by composing it with a gauge transformation parametrized by a "chemical potential"  $\mu$ . This new dynamics  $\alpha_t^{\mu}$  is given by

$$\alpha_t^{\mu}(\psi_{\rho}) = e^{it\mu g} \alpha_t(\psi_{\rho}). \tag{6.15}$$

In the relations corresponding to (6.11) and (6.11a) there appears then on the right hand side an additional factor  $e^{it\mu g}$ . Its only effect is that in the weights  $w_n$  of the measure  $\sigma$  characterizing the KMS-states for the dynamics  $\alpha_t^{\mu}$  one must replace e by  $e + \mu$ . We summarize these results in

Proposition 6.2. Any KMS-state on the dynamical system  $(A_N, \alpha_t^\mu)$  for inverse temperature  $\beta$  and charge  $c = n/\sqrt{2N}, \quad n = 0, 1, \dots, 2N-1$  is gauge invariant, i.e. vanishes on operators with nonzero total charge. Its restriction to the gauge invariant part  $\hat{U}$  of  $A_N$  (the "zero charge operators") is determined by Eq. (6.7a), where the measure is given by  $(g = \sqrt{2N})$ .

$$d\sigma(g') = w^0 \sum_{n} e^{-\beta g'^2/2} \delta(g' - ng - \epsilon - \mu)$$
 (6.16)

w being a normalization constant.

We mention as an aside that one can also find the KMS-states  $\omega_{\beta}$  associated with our universal representation of  $\hat{U}$  by the above method. In this case the individual

terms on the right hand side of relation (6.2) make no sense (since the representation space is not separable). But the KMS-condition can be evaluated as before and the KMS-states are again fixed by relation (6.7a), where the measure  $\sigma$  is now given by

$$d\sigma(g') = \sqrt{\beta/2\pi} \epsilon^{-\beta(g'+\mu)^2/2} dg', \tag{6.17}$$

 $\mu$  being the chemical potential. These states appear in fact in the string theoretic interpretation of 2-dimensionl models, where Q is viewed as the center of mass momentum which for an uncompactified dimension has a continuous spectrum.

#### 6B. Partition functions

Next we wish to compute the partition function in the presence of a chemical potential  $\mu$ . As we know, the irreducible representations of  $\mathcal{A}_N$  can be labeled by the charge  $e=n/g, \quad g=\sqrt{2N}, n=0,\ldots,2N-1$ . Let us denote the corresponding representation spaces by  $\mathcal{H}_n$ . The corresponding partition function is

$$Z_n(\beta, \mu) = tr_{\mathcal{H}_n} e^{-\beta[H + \mu Q]}. \tag{6.18}$$

Assuming that the trace exists, the logarithmic derivative of  $Z_n$  must be expectation value of  $H + \mu Q$  in a KMS state  $\omega_{\beta,\mu}$  of inverse temperature  $\beta$ , with chemical potential  $\mu$  and charge c. The one and only such KMS-state was found in the last section. (For a discussion of how the existence of the trace can be deduced from the KMS-condition see end of Appendix A.) Thus

$$-\frac{\partial}{\partial\beta}\ln Z_n(\beta,\mu) = \omega_{\beta,\mu}(H+\mu Q). \tag{6.20}$$

To compute this quantity, we must have H as a concrete element of our algebra of observables. We assume the Sugawara formula

$$H = \sum_{m \ge 1} J_{-m} J_m + \frac{1}{2} Q^2 \tag{6.21}$$

(which can be established in our setting by showing that the right hand side of (6.21) induces the time translations given in relation (3.53)). For later convenience, the contribution involving the charge  $Q = J_0$  has been singled out. Thus

$$\omega_{\beta,\mu}(H+\mu Q) = \omega_{\beta,\mu}(\frac{1}{2}Q^2 + \mu Q) + \sum_{n\geq 1} \omega_{\beta,\mu}(J_{-n}J_n). \tag{6.22}$$

The KMS-state  $\omega_{\beta,\mu}$  on  $\mathcal{A}_N$  is also a KMS state on  $\hat{U}$ . Since the Weyl operators  $W(u) = \exp(i \sum J_n \tilde{u}_{-n})$  determine  $J_n$  we see from the Corollary to Lemma 6.1 that the expectation value of  $J_{-m}J_m$  for  $m \geq 1$  is the same for any KMS-state of inverse temperature  $\beta$  on  $\hat{U}$ , and is given by

$$\omega_{\beta,\mu}(J_{-m}J_m) = \frac{m}{\epsilon^{\beta m} - 1} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \beta} \ln(1 - \epsilon^{-\beta m}), \ (m \ge 1). \tag{6.23}$$

So the sum in (6.22) yields

$$\sum_{m\geq 1} \omega_{\beta,\mu}(J_{-m}J_m) = \frac{\partial}{\partial \beta} \ln \prod_{m=1}^{\infty} (1 - e^{-\beta m}). \tag{6.24}$$

The remaining terms can be written as

$$\omega_{\beta,\mu}(\frac{1}{2}Q^2 + \mu Q) = \left(-\frac{1}{2}\frac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2} - i\mu\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\right)F(t/g)|_{t=0}$$
 (6.25)

where F(t) is the function defined in Eq. (6.12). According to the results of Section 6A, F(t) has a Fourier expansion  $F(t) = \sum_m w_m \epsilon^{itg(mg+\epsilon)}$  whose coefficients  $w_m$  are given by Eq. (6.14), with  $\epsilon + \mu$  substituted for  $\epsilon$  in the presence of a chemical potential  $\mu$ . Thus

$$\omega_{\beta,\mu}(\frac{1}{2}Q^2 + \mu Q) = \sum_{m} w_m \left[ \frac{1}{2} (mg + \epsilon)^2 + \mu (mg + \epsilon) \right]$$
 (6.26)

with

$$w_m = \frac{e^{-\beta(mg+e+\mu)^2/2}}{\sum_m e^{-\beta(mg+e+\mu)^2/2}}.$$

The sum in (6.26) can thus be rewritten in the form

$$-\frac{\partial}{\partial\beta}\ln\sum_{m}e^{-\beta(mg+e)^2/2}\epsilon^{-\beta\mu(mg+e)}.$$

and putting these results together we obtain the derivative of  $\ln Z_n$  with respect to  $\beta$ . This shows that

$$Z_n(\beta,\mu) = \frac{\sum_m e^{-\beta(mg+e)^2/2} e^{-\beta\mu(mg+e)}}{\prod_{m=1}^{\infty} (1 - e^{-\beta m})}$$
(6.27)

up to a possible normalization factor  $\mathcal{N}(\mu)$ . We show that the normalization factor is 1 by examining the asymptotic behaviour as  $\beta \to \infty$  of the right hand side of (6.27) and of the trace defining  $Z_n$ . In this limit the asymptotic behaviour of the sum in (6.27) is dominated by those terms where  $\frac{1}{2}(mg+\epsilon)^2 + \mu(mg+\epsilon)$  assumes its minimum. On the other hand, the trace in Eq. (6.18) is dominated by the ground states of those irreducible representations for U with charge g' where  $E_{g'} + \mu g'$  is minimal. But the ground state energy  $E_{g'}$  equals  $\frac{1}{2}(g')^2$  as we know, and the possible values of g' are ng+e,  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . As a result, both sides of (6.27) agree asymptotically for  $\beta \to \infty$ .

The result (6.27) for the partition function is proportional to a ratio of a classical  $\Theta$ -function and a Dedekind  $\eta$ -function, see below.

# 6C. Modular properties of characters of $\mathcal{A}_N$

The characters of the algebras  $A_N$  are the analytic continuations of the partition functions  $Z_N$  to imaginary  $\beta$ . For their analysis it is convenient to introduce the new variables

$$\epsilon^{2\pi i \tau} = \epsilon^{-\beta}, \qquad \epsilon^{2\pi i \zeta} = \epsilon^{-\beta \mu}.$$

We also note that the functions appearing in the numerator and denominator of Eq. (6.27) are well known.

$$\eta(\tau) = \epsilon^{2\pi i \tau/24} \prod_{m=1}^{\infty} (1 - e^{2\pi i \tau m})$$

is the Dedekind  $\eta$ -function and

$$\Theta_{l,g^2}(\tau,\zeta,u) = \epsilon^{2\pi i u} \sum_{m \in \mathbf{Z}} e^{\pi i \tau (gm+l/2g)^2} e^{2\pi i \zeta (gm+l/2g)}$$

is the classical  $\Theta$ -function. Recalling that  $g^2=2N$  we thus can rewrite the partition function in the form (using the new variables)

$$Z_n(eta,\mu)=e^{2\pi i au/24}rac{1}{\eta( au)}\Theta_{2n,2N}( au,\zeta,0).$$

The factor  $e^{2\pi i\tau/24}$  can be eliminated by changing the zero point of energy H by a constant  $-\frac{1}{24}$  so that the vacuum has energy  $-\frac{1}{24}$ . This appears naturally if we regard the stress tensor not as a function of z but of the angle  $\theta$ ,  $e^{i\theta}=z$ . In the notation of Section 1B

$$\mathcal{T}(\theta) = 2\pi \left(\frac{d\xi}{d\theta}\right)^2 \Theta_+(\xi(z)) - \frac{c}{12}\{\xi,\theta\}$$

where c is the central charge (i.e. c=1 in the present case), and  $\{\xi,\theta\}$  is the Schwarz derivative

$$\{\xi,\theta\} = rac{\xi'''}{\xi'} - rac{3}{2} \left(rac{\xi'''}{\xi'}
ight)^2 = rac{1}{2}.$$

Its mode expansion reads

$$\mathcal{T}(\theta) = L_0 - \frac{\epsilon}{24} + \sum_{n \neq 0} L_n \epsilon^{-in\theta}.$$

The characters of  $A_N$  in the new convention

 $vacuum\ energy = -\frac{1}{24}$ 

are denoted by  $K_n(\tau, \zeta, N)$ . The results of the above discussion can be summarized in

PROPOSITION 6.3. The characters of  $A_N$  are given by

$$K_n(\tau, \zeta, N) = Tr_{\mathcal{H}_n} e^{2\pi i (\tau H + \zeta Q)}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\eta(\tau)} \Theta_{2n, 2N}(\tau, \zeta, 0)$$
(6.28)

where the trace runs over the irreducible representation space of  $A_N$  whose states have charge  $\epsilon$  modulo g,  $\epsilon = n/g$ ,  $\frac{1}{2}g^2 = N$ .

We note that the characters obey the periodicity condition

$$K_{n+2N} = K_n. ag{6.29}$$

This property reflects the fact that the representation space  $\mathcal{H}_n$  is determined by the representation of the center  $\mathbf{Z}_{2N}$  of  $\mathcal{A}_N$ , i.e. by n modulo 2N. It can also be verified from the explicit formula for  $K_n$ . We proceed to show

PROPOSITION 6.4. The 2N characters  $K_n$ , n=1-N, ... N (multiplied with  $e^{2\pi i u}$ ) span a 2N-dimensional representation of the modular group  $SL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ , which acts on the variables  $(\tau, \zeta, u)$  in Eq. (6.26) according to

$$(\tau, \zeta, u) \mapsto (\tau_g, \zeta_g, u_g)$$

$$\tau_g = \frac{a\tau + b}{c\tau + d}, \quad \zeta_g = \frac{\zeta}{c\tau + d}, \quad u_g - u - \frac{1}{2} \frac{c\zeta^2}{c\tau + d}.$$
(6.30)

 $g^{-1}$  is the  $2 \times 2$  matrix with integer entries  $a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{Z}$ , ad - be = 1.

The group law  $T_{g_1}T_{g_2}=T_{g_1g_2}$  for the operators  $T_g\Theta(\tau,\zeta,u)=\Theta(\tau_g,\zeta_g,u_g)$  can be verified (see Appendix C). It is then sufficient to study the transformation properties of  $K_n$  for the two generators of  $SL(2,\mathbf{Z})$ .

$$T: \ \tau \mapsto \tau + 1, \qquad S: \ \tau \mapsto -\frac{1}{\tau}.$$
 (6.31)

We have from the result (6.28) for  $K_n$ 

$$K_n(\tau + 1, \zeta; N) = \exp\left(i\pi \frac{n^2}{2N} - \frac{1}{12}\right) K_n(\tau, \zeta; N)$$
 (6.32)

and, according to Appendix C

$$e^{-\pi i \zeta^2/\tau} K_n(-\frac{1}{\tau}, \frac{\zeta}{\tau}; N) = \sum_{p=1-N}^N S_{np} K_p(\tau, \zeta; N)$$
 (6.33)

where

$$S_{np} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2N}} e^{-inp}, \quad n, p = 1 - N, \dots N$$
 (6.34)

so that the  $2N \times 2N$  matrix  $S = (S_{np})$  satisfies

$$S^2 = C = S^{*2}, \qquad C^2 = 1. \tag{6.35}$$

Here C is the  $\mathbb{Z}_{2N}$ -charge conjugation matrix characterized by (cp. (C.9))

$$\sum_{p=1-N}^{N} C_{np} K_p(\tau, \zeta; N) = K_{-n}(\tau, \zeta; N). \tag{6.36}$$

# 6D. MODULAR INVARIANT PARTITION FUNCTIONS. LOCAL 2-DIMENSIONAL QUANTUM FIELD THEORY MODELS

Let  $\mathcal{A}_N$  be a maximal algebra of local right moving observables, and let  $\bar{\mathcal{A}}_N$  be its left moving counterpart. We shall identify the left movers' modular parameters with  $-\bar{\tau}$  and  $-\bar{\zeta}$  so that the corresponding characters will appear as complex conjugate to those of the right movers. We shall look for partition functions of 2-dimensional conformal models of the form

$$Z \equiv Z(\tau, \zeta; N) = \sum_{n,\hat{n}} m_{n,\hat{n}} K_n \hat{K}_{\hat{n}}. \tag{6.37}$$

An expression Z of this form will be the trace of  $q^H y^Q \bar{q}^H \bar{y}^{\bar{Q}}$  over a Hilbert space which is direct sum of tensor products  $\mathcal{H}_n \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\bar{n}}$  of representation spaces for the left- and right movers' algebras  $\mathcal{A}_N$  if the coefficients  $m_{n,\bar{n}}$  are non-negative integers.  $(q = e^{2\pi i \tau}, y = e^{2\pi i \zeta})$ . The vacuum vector has charge 0 and appears only in  $\mathcal{H}_0 \otimes \mathcal{H}_0$ . So it has multiplicity 1 if  $m_{0,\bar{0}} = 1$ . We therefore seek solutions Z of this particular form which in addition are modular invariant.

#### CONDITION:

- (a) the coefficients  $m_{n,\tilde{n}}$  are non-negative integers, and  $m_{0,\tilde{n}}=1$ .
- (b) the function Z is modular invariant.

The partition function carries information about the operator content of the 2-dimensional theory (cf. [3]). Its modular invariance guarantees the crossing symmetry of the correlation functions of all 2-dimensional primary fields (although the chiral fields of Section 4B with charges  $\epsilon = n/g$  are not local among themselves). We note that the permutation group  $S_3$ , the crossing symmetry group of the 4-point function, appears as a factor group of the modular group (see [24]).

The results of Di Francesco, Saleur and Zuber [48] allow to establish the following

PROPOSITION 6.5. Suppose that N is a product of distinct primes (so that  $A_N$  is maximal). Then the number of independent modular invariant partition functions is

$$I(N) = \begin{cases} 2 & \text{for } N = 1\\ 2^k & \text{for } N = p_1 \dots p_k \end{cases}$$
 (6.38)

In more detail, to each splitting N=pp' of N into a product of two coprimes there is a pair of partition functions satisfying the conditions (a) and (b). They are given by

$$Z^{(n_0,\pm)} = \sum_{n=1-N}^{N} K_{n_0 n} \tilde{K}_{\pm n}$$
 (6.39)

where  $n_0 = n_0(p, p')$  is a positive integer which is uniquely determined by the requirement that the following inequality is satisfied for a pair of integers  $(r_0, s_0)$  with  $(r_0p' - s_0p)^2 = 1$ 

$$1 \le n_0 = r_0 p' + s_0 p \le p p' (= N). \tag{6.40}$$

REMARK: For  $\zeta = 0$ , the case considered in [48],  $K_n = K_{-n}$ , so that the two invariants coincide.

SKETCH OF PROOF: The existence of a pair of integers  $(r_0, s_0)$  satisfying  $r_0p' - s_0p = \pm 1$  is a consequence of the assumption that p and p' are coprimes. Such a pair is constructed by the Euclid algorithm and is determined up to adding to it (mp, mp'). The inequalities (6.40) for  $n_0 = r_0p' + s_0p$  fix it uniquely. The modular invariance of the partition function (6.39) is a straightforward consequence of (6.32)-(6.34), (C.8) and of the identity

$$K_{n^2n} = K_n \qquad \text{for } n_0^2 - 1 = 4r_0 s_0 N$$
 (6.41)

which follows from the periodicity condition (6.29). The number of splittings of k objects into two sets of l and k-l objects being  $2^{k-1}$ , we obtain the number (6.38) of

modular invariant partition functions. The proof that there are no other hermitean forms of type (6.37) satisfying (a) and (b) follows arguments of [49] and [50].

## VII. OUTLOOK AND DISCUSSION

7A. ON THE CONSTRUCTION OF "QUARK FIELDS" FOR NON-ABELIAN CURRENT ALGEBRAS

The construction of fields from outer automorphisms can also be carried out in the case of non-abelian current algebras. We shall briefly discuss the procedure for the case of a Kac-Moody current algebra  $d\hat{G}$ , or its associated loop group  $\bar{L}G$ , where G is a simple simply connected compact Lie group with a finite (nonempty) center Z. The center Z of G acts trivially on the observables. (This can be taken as a defining property, we conjecture that it is automatic if the observable algebra A is defined as a maximal local extension of  $d\hat{G}$  for a fixed level k.) It will therefore give rise to a superselection rule. In the vacuum sector Z is represented trivially. In analogy with Section 3 one should like to find localized outer automorphisms of  $d\hat{G}$  which intertwine between different superselection sectors. Such automorphisms are known [25]. In loop group language they are given by conjugation with elements in the adjoint loop group LG/Z which correspond to non-contractible loops  $\gamma: S^1 \mapsto G/Z$ . This defines automorphisms, also denoted by  $\gamma$ , of the loop group LG which lift to its central extension  $\bar{L}G$ .

An automorphism  $\gamma$  is called localized on I, if it acts trivially on loops  $u: \mathbf{S}^1 \mapsto G$  with  $u(z) = 1 \in G$  for  $z \notin I$ . One verifies that the above automorphisms are localized on I if  $\gamma(z) = 1 \in G/\mathcal{Z}$  for  $z \notin I$ .

It is known that these automorphisms suffice to intertwine all the positive energy representations (superselection sectors) for simply laced G and level 1. The resulting field algebras appear in the mathematical literature ([25], Proposition 4.6.9).

The localized outer automorphisms are equivalent to constant outer automorphisms  $\gamma_g$  of  $\tilde{L}G$  (the counterpart of the automorphisms of  $\hat{U}$  with constant charge distribution). They are labeled by elements  $g\in\mathcal{Z}$  (because the fundamental group of  $G/\mathcal{Z}$  is  $\mathcal{Z}$ ) and form a representation of  $\mathcal{Z}$ . Following the general construction principle of Section 1A, one associates unitary charge shift operators  $\Gamma_g$  with these constant automorphisms. They change the representation of the center of  $\mathcal{A}$ . One then constructs a field algebra  $\mathcal{F}$  as in the abelian case. Its unitary elements are

$$\psi = \eta W \Gamma_g, \qquad W \in \tilde{L}G$$

and the multiplication law is given by

$$egin{align} \Gamma_{g_1}\Gamma_{g_2}&=\Gamma_{g_1+g_2}, &\Gamma_0=1 \ &W\Gamma_{g}&=\Gamma_{q}\gamma_{g}(W) \ \end{array}$$

Here  $\eta$  can be complex phase factors, and + is group multiplication in  $\mathcal{Z}$ .

There are, in general, several "natural choices" of  $\gamma_g$  and the associated intertwining map  $\Gamma_g$  between the vacuum sector and a sector of "charge" g. They correspond, typically, to the different components of a field which transforms covariantly under a "fundamental representation" of G (in which the center of G is

represented nontrivially). We shall illustrate the situation with the example of the level 1 representation of  $\widehat{su(2)}$  which already appeared as the local extension  $\mathcal{A}_1$  of the  $\widehat{U}(1)$ -current algebra.

According to the discussion in Section 5B the su(2) current algebra is reproduced from the algebra  $\mathcal{A}_1$  which is characterized by the fact that the minimal charge g carried by a field is given by  $\frac{1}{2}g^2 = N = 1$ . The charged currents are quantum fields (fields at a point) with components

$$\psi_{\pm\sqrt{(2)}}(z) = \sum \bar{\psi}_{n,\pm} z^{-n-1} \tag{7.1}$$

Their Fourier transforms satisfy the commutation relations

$$[J_{n}, \bar{\psi}_{m,\pm}] = \pm \sqrt{2} \, \hat{\psi}_{m+n,\pm},$$
  

$$[\tilde{\psi}_{n,+}, \tilde{\psi}_{m,-}] = \sqrt{2} \, J_{n+m} + n \, \delta_{n+m,0} \,.$$
(7.2)

The charge shift operators

$$\Gamma_{\pm} \equiv \Gamma_{\pm \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{2}}, \qquad (\Gamma_{-} = \Gamma_{+}^{*} = \Gamma_{+}^{-1}) \tag{7.3}$$

are used to construct charged fields of charge  $\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{2}$ . They induce the automorphisms

$$J_n \mapsto \Gamma_-^* J_n \Gamma_- = J_n - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \delta_{n0}$$

$$\psi_{n,\pm} \mapsto \Gamma_-^* \psi_{n,\pm} \Gamma_- = \psi_{n\mp1,\pm}$$
(7.4)

and similarly for  $\Gamma_{+}$ . It is a simple exercise to verify that the map (7.4) does respect the current commutation relations (7.2). The pair of fields  $\psi_{\pm\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{2}}(z)$  span the defining representation of SU(2).

We hope to return to a more systematic study of the conformal QFT models based on a non-abelian current algebra in a separate publication. For simply laced Lie groups G and level 1 a straightforward generalization of the approach of this paper is possible, because a stress tensor can be constructed from currents associated with the maximal torus T of G. Therefore the non-abelian current algebra  $d\hat{G}$  is a local extension of the abelian current algebra  $d\hat{T}$  in the terminology of this paper.

# 7B. VIRASORO ALGEBRA AS A GERM OF A LOCAL FIELD THEORY. CONCLUDING REMARKS

The results of this paper (summed up in Section 1C) suggest the following more general program.

Consider the minimal algebra of right movers' observables in a 2-dimensional conformal QFT, the Virasoro algebra Vir of the stress energy tensor (or, rather, the algebra generated by exponentials of the smeared field T(f) for real f). The problem is to find all (maximal) local extensions of Vir, for a given central charge c, and their QFT-representations, i.e. their positive energy representations and fields that intertwine them. We know of one superselected "charge" for all such theories, the unitary operator  $\exp(2\pi i L_0)$  which is in the center of the algebra and generates the univalence automorphism  $\alpha_{2\pi}$ . According to our Theorem 1 one should therefore

be able to find localized morphisms of Vir which change the eigenvalues of this univalence generator.

One moral of the present investigation is the uncovering of the role of the maximal local extension of the given "germ" of the (chiral) algebra of observables. Only by studying the extended algebras  $A_N$  we came to a charge quantization, and, as a result, to a class of rational conformal quantum field theories. cf. [45].

It may be desirable to generalize the notion of local extension to include algebras generated by locally anticommuting Fermi fields. The separate introduction of such algebras was not needed when the germ of the algebra of observables was taken to be the chiral current algebra  $\hat{U}$ , since the canonical Fermi fields of charge  $g_1$  with  $g_1^2$  odd are contained in the QFT-representation of the bosonic algebra  $A_{\frac{1}{2}g^2}$  for  $g=2g_1$  (see Section 4B). If Vir is substituted for  $\hat{U}$ , it may be necessary or convenient to introduce fermionic local extensions in their own right. This is suggested by a study of the critical Ising model [51] (corresponding to  $c=\frac{1}{2}$ ) whose right moving part is most naturally constructed as a QFT-representation of the algebra of canonical anticommutation relations; both double and single-valued representations are admitted. It was further noted in [51] that in all unitary "minimal theories" [14,51,42] with Virasoro central charge

$$c_m = 1 - \frac{6}{(m+2)(m+3)}, \quad m = 1, 2, \dots$$

there exists a (unique) primary field  $\psi_m$  of canonical (integer or half-integer) dimension (or spin)

$$s_m = \frac{1}{4}m(m+1).$$

The algebra generated by  $\psi_m$  (which includes Vir) seems to be a good candidate for such a local field algebra whose single- and double-valued QFT-representations give rise to the  $c_m$ -models (classified in [49]). We hope to come back to these problems in a later paper.

APPENDIX A. GROUND STATES AND KMS-STATES OF  $\hat{U}$ 

In this appendix we want to determine all regular ground states and KMS-states on the current algebra  $\dot{U}$ . We will outline the calculation for the KMS-states at inverse temperature  $\beta$ . The form of the ground states can be determined by the same method, or simply by going to the limit  $\beta \to \infty$  in the subsequent expressions for the KMS-states.

We recall that a linear functional  $\omega$  on the Weyl algebra  $\hat{U}$  is a state if it is normalized, i.e.  $\omega(1) = 1$ , and if it satisfies the positivity condition

$$-\sum_{i,j=1}^n \bar{c}_i c_j \, \omega \big(W(u_i)^* W(u_j)\big) \geq 0 \tag{A.1}$$

for any finite sequence of functions  $u_1, \ldots u_n \in S$  and coefficients  $c_1, \ldots c_n \in \mathbb{C}$ . Note that in view of the composition law (2.6) any state  $\omega$  on  $\hat{U}$  is completely fixed by specifying all expectation values  $\omega(W(u)), u \in S$ . A state is called *quasifree* if

$$\omega(W(u)) = e^{ig(u) - \frac{1}{2}||u||^2}, \quad u \in \mathcal{S}$$
 (A.2)

where g(.) is a real linear functional and ||.|| a suitable Hilbert seminorm on the real space S. From the positivity condition (A.2) one can deduce that ||.|| must satisfy the inequality [53]

$$||u||^2 + ||v||^2 + iA(u,v) \ge 0 \tag{A.3}$$

for arbitrary  $u,v\in\mathcal{S}$ . Conversely, if this inequality is satisfied, then the functional  $\omega$  in (A.2) extends to a state on  $\hat{U}$ . We recall that the n-point correlation functions of the current J in a quasifree state can easily be recovered from the generating functional  $\omega(W(u))$ : they are sums and products of the (truncated) 1-point and 2-point functions given by

$$\langle J[u+iv] \rangle_{\omega} = g(u) + ig(v)$$

$$\langle J[u-iv]^* J[u+iv] \rangle_{\omega} = ||u||^2 + ||v||^2 + iA(u,v).$$
(A.4)

Hence condition (A.3) amounts to the familiar positivity condition for the correlation functions. The relevance of the notion of quasifree states for the present investigation comes from the fact that all KMS- and ground states on  $\hat{U}$  are convex combinations of quasifree states.

In our calculation of KMS-states on  $\hat{U}$  we follow the argumentation in [54].

Let  $\omega_{eta}$  be any regular KMS state on  $\hat{U}$  at inverse temperature eta>0 and consider the function

$$f(t) = \omega_{\beta} \left( W(v) \alpha_{t}(W(u)) \right), \quad t \in \mathbf{R}. \tag{A.5}$$

According to the KMS-condition, f can be analytically continued into the strip  $S_{\beta} = \{z: 0 \leq Imz \leq \beta\}$  and it is continuous at the boundary. Moreover, f satisfies the boundary condition

$$f(t+i\beta) = \omega(\alpha_t(W(u))W(v)), \quad t \in \mathbf{R}.$$
(A.6)

Making use of the fact that according to the composition law (2.6)

$$\alpha_t(W(u))W(v) = e^{-A(u_t,v)}W(v)\alpha_t(W(u)) \tag{A.7}$$

we thus obtain for f the equation

$$f(t+i\beta) = f(t) \exp\left(i \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi} u'_t(z) v(z)\right). \tag{A.8}$$

Note that if there exists a solution  $f_0$  of this equation which is analytic in the interior of  $S_\beta$ , continuous at the boundary, and nowhere zero, i.e. inf  $\{|f_0(z)|:z\in S_\beta\}>0$ , then  $g(z)=f(z)/f_0(z)$  is analytic and bounded on  $S_\beta$  and satisfies  $g(t+i\beta)=g(t)$ . So g must be a constant function by Liouvilles theorem, i.e. the solution of (A.8) is unique up to a constant factor.

By taking the logarithm on both sides of Eq. (A.8) and performing a Fourier transformation it is easy to exhibit a function  $f_0$  with the required properties:

$$f_0(z) = \exp\left(-\sum_{n\neq 0} n \frac{e^{-inz}}{e^{n\beta} - 1} \tilde{v}_n^* \tilde{u}_n\right) \quad z \in S_{\beta}. \tag{A.9}$$

It thus follows after an elementary computation that

$$\omega_{\beta}(W(u_t + v)) = \omega_{\beta}(W(u_t)W(f))e^{\frac{1}{2}A(u_t, v)}$$

$$= C(u, v)e^{-\frac{1}{2}||u_t + v||_{\delta}^2}$$
(A.10)

where C(u,v) does not depend on t, and we have introduced the seminorm on S

$$||u||_{\beta}^{2} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n \coth(\frac{1}{2}n\beta)|\tilde{u}_{n}|^{2}. \tag{A.11}$$

It remains to determine the form of the factor C(u,v) in (A.10). From the first and the third member in (A.10) we see that C(u,v) can only depend on  $u_t+v$ , but it must not depend on t. Hence putting  $v=-u+g\mathbf{1}$ ,  $g\in\mathbf{R}$  and  $\mathbf{1}(z)=1$  we obtain

$$\omega_{\beta}(W(u_t - u + g1)) = C'(g)e^{-\frac{1}{2}||u_t - u||_{\beta}^2}$$
(A.12)

where C'(g) is independent of u. Setting in (A.12) u = 0 we obtain

$$C'(g) = \omega_{\beta}(W(g1)) = \int d\sigma(g')e^{igg'}.$$
 (A.13)

The existence of the normalized measure  $\sigma$  in the second inequality follows from Bochners theorem, since  $\omega_{\beta}$  is a regular state for the unitary representation  $g \mapsto W(g1)$  of  $\mathbb{R}$ . Noticing that the set of functions  $u_t - u, u \in \mathcal{S}$  exhausts the set of all functions  $u \in \mathcal{S}$  whose Fourier component  $\tilde{u}_0$  vanishes, we have thus established by relation (A.12) and (A.13) the form of the functional  $\omega_{\beta}$  given in Lemma 6.1. Proceeding to the limit  $\beta \to \infty$  we also obtain the form of the ground states on  $\tilde{U}$  as given in Lemma 2.2.

If  $\omega_{\beta}$  is a primary state<sup>1</sup> then

$$\omega_{\beta}\left(W(u)\right) = e^{ig\tilde{u}_{0} - \frac{1}{2}||u||_{\mathcal{S}}^{2}} \tag{A.14}$$

for some "charge"  $g \in \mathbf{R}$ , i.e. the measure  $\sigma$  in relation (A.13) is concentrated at a point. Since the seminorm  $||.||_{\mathcal{J}}$  satisfies the condition (A.3) we see that Eq. (A.14) defines a quasifree KMS-state for any  $g \in \mathbf{R}$ . But convex combinations of KMS-states of the same temperature are again KMS-states, hence any normalized measure  $\sigma$  in (A.13) gives rise to a particular KMS-state on  $\hat{U}$ .

If one goes in relation (A.14) to the limit  $\beta \to \infty$  one obtains a ground state  $\omega$  of charge g which is a pure state (giving rise to an irreducible representation of  $\hat{U}$ ). This follows, as in the standard framework of quantum field theory [15], from the fact that the state  $\omega$  is weakly clustering, i.e.

$$\lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{2T} \int_{-T}^{T} dt \, \omega \big( W(u) \alpha_t(W(v)) \big) = \omega \big( W(u) \big) \omega \big( W(v) \big), \tag{A.15}$$

as can be shown by explicit computation.

We conclude this appendix with some remarks concerning the relation between the representations induced by KMS-states for different temperatures and charge spectra. It is clear from the above discussion that two KMS-states will lead to disjoint representations of  $\hat{U}$  if the corresponding measures  $\sigma$  in (A.13) (giving the central decomposition) are disjoint. For example the quasifree states in relation (A.14) give rise to disjoint representations for different values of the charge g. On the other hand, if for two KMS-states the measures  $\sigma$  coincide (or, more generally, belong to the same measure class) then one can show that the corresponding representations of  $\hat{U}$  are quasi-equivalent (equivalent up to multiplicity). This result remains true also if these states have different temperatures, or if one of them is a ground state. (A proof of this assertion can be obtained e.g. by applying the general result in [55].) So, roughly speaking, one can distinguish the (quasi-) equivalence classes of representations of  $\hat{U}$  by the charge spectrum. As expected for theories living on a compact space, the temperature is not a superselection rule.

From the latter fact it follows for example that the (primary) KMS-states of charge g can be represented in the form

$$\omega_{oldsymbol{eta}}(W) = rac{1}{Z} Tr \, \epsilon^{-eta H} \pi(W),$$

where the trace is to be taken over the representation space of the (irreducible) representation  $(\pi, \mathcal{H})$  induced by the ground state of charge g, and H is the Hamiltonian in that representation. Hence one can rediscover the well known fact that  $e^{-\beta H}$  is a trace class operator in all lowest weight representations of  $\hat{U}$  by an analysis of the relations between the various KMS-states, which we have computed here by making use of the KMS-condition.

# APPENDIX B. SOLUTION OF A COCYCLE EQUATION

We give here the proof of Lemma 3.2. i.e. we determine all continuous solutions of the equation

$$X(\rho_1)_{\gamma = g_1}(X(\rho_2)) = \xi(\rho_1, \rho_2)X(\rho_1 + \rho_2)$$
 (B.1)

where  $\xi$  is some phase factor and  $X(\rho)$  are unitary operators in the center of  $\tilde{\mathcal{U}}^n$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>A primary state on  $\hat{U}$  is a state which leads to a factorial representation of  $\hat{U}$  in which the center consists of multiples of the identity.

We begin by noting that  $\zeta(\rho) = \omega_0(X(\rho))$  is a phase factor (since  $\omega_0$  is a pure state), so by multiplying  $X(\rho)$  with  $\zeta(\rho)^{-1}$  we may assume without loss of generality that  $\omega_0(X(\rho)) = 1$  for all  $\rho$ . Let us now consider Eq. (B.1) for the cases where  $\rho_1[1] = g_1 = 0$ , i.e.

$$X(\rho_0)X(\rho) = \xi(\rho_0, \rho)X(\rho + \rho_0), \qquad \rho_0[1 = 0.$$
 (B.2)

Taking matrix elements of this equation in the state  $\omega_0$  we thus see that

$$\xi(\rho_0, \rho) = 1$$
 if  $\rho_0 = 0$ . (B.3)

Moreover, setting  $Y(q) = X(\bar{\rho})$ , where  $\bar{\rho}(z) = g/z$ ,  $g = \rho[1]$  and  $\Delta \rho = \rho - \hat{\rho}$  we obtain from (B.2) and (B.3), since  $\Delta \rho[1] = 0$ 

$$X(\rho) = X(\Delta \rho)Y(q). \tag{B.4}$$

Plugging this into (B.1) we get

$$Y(g_1)\gamma_{-g_1}(Y(g_2))Y(g_1+g_2)^{-1}=\xi(\rho_1,\rho_2)X(\Delta\rho_1)^{-1}\gamma_{-g_1}(X(\Delta\rho_2))^{-1}X(\Delta\rho_1+\Delta\rho_2)$$

and making use of the fact that  $X(\Delta \rho_1 + \Delta \rho_2) = X(\Delta \rho_1)X(\Delta \rho_2)$  which also follows from (B.2) and (B.3) we arrive at

$$Y(g_1)\gamma_{-g_1}(Y(g_2))Y(g_1+g_2)^{-1} = \xi(\rho_1,\rho_2)X(\Delta\rho_2)\gamma_{-g_1}(X(\Delta\rho_2))^{-1}.$$
 (B.5)

The left hand side of this equation does not depend on the particular choice of  $\rho_1, \rho_2$  (for fixed  $g_1, g_2$ ). Hence setting  $\rho_1 = \bar{\rho}_1, \rho_2 = \bar{\rho}_2$  and taking into account that X(0) = 1 we see that for  $g_1, g_2 \in \mathbf{R}$ 

$$Y(g_1)\gamma_{-g_1}(Y(g_2))Y(g_1+g_2)^{-1}=\eta(g_1,g_2)\mathbf{1}$$
 (B.6)

where  $\eta(.,.)$  is a phase factor. It is then clear that  $\eta(g_1,g_2)$  satisfies the 2-cocycle equation

$$\eta(g_1, g_2)\eta(g_1 + g_2, g_3) = \eta(g_1, g_2 + g_3)\eta(g_2, g_3). \tag{B.7}$$

As is well known, all (continuous) solutions of this equation are of the form

$$\eta(g_1, g_2) = \zeta(g_1)\zeta(g_2)\zeta(g_3 + g_2)^{-1}$$

where  $\zeta(.)$  is a phase factor. Hence multiplying Y(g) with  $\zeta(g)^{-1}$  we may assume without restriction of generality that  $\eta(g_1, g_2) = 1$ , i.e. that Y(.) satisfies the equation given in the statement of the lemma. We are thus left with the equation

$$\gamma_{-g}(X(\Delta\rho)) = \sigma(g,\Delta\rho)X(\Delta\rho) \quad \text{if} \quad \Delta\rho[1] = 0, \tag{B.8}$$

where  $\sigma(.,.)$  is again some phase factor.

From the composition law  $\gamma_{g_1}\gamma_{g_2}=\gamma_{g_1+g_2}$  and from the fact that  $X(\Delta\rho)X(\Delta\rho')=X(\Delta\rho+\Delta\rho')$  it follows that  $\sigma(.,.)$  must satisfy

$$\begin{aligned}
\sigma(g_1, \Delta \rho) \sigma(g_2, \Delta \rho) &= \sigma(g_1 + g_2, \Delta \rho) \\
\sigma(g, \Delta \rho) \sigma(g, \Delta \rho') &= \sigma(g, \Delta \rho + \Delta \rho').
\end{aligned} \tag{B.9}$$

Bearing in mind the anticipated continuity properties of  $X(\rho)$  it is then clear that

$$\sigma(g, \Delta \rho) = e^{-igl(\Delta \rho)}, \tag{B.10}$$

where l(.) is a real functional. An obvious special solution of the resulting equation for X(.), viz.

$$\gamma_{\epsilon,\rho}(X(\Delta\rho)) = \epsilon^{-igl(\Delta\rho)} X(\Delta\rho) \tag{B.11}$$

is  $X_0(\Delta \rho) = e^{il(\Delta \rho)Q}$ . Expressing the general solution in the form

 $X(\Delta\rho)=X_1(\Delta\rho)X_0(\Delta\rho)$  we see that  $X_1(\Delta\rho)$  must be a fixed point under the action of  $\gamma_g,g\in\mathbf{R}$ . But apart from multiples of the identity there is no such fixed point (the automorphisms  $\gamma_g,g\in\mathbf{R}$  act ergodically on the center of  $\hat{U}^n$ ), hence  $X_1(\Delta\rho)$  must be a multiple of the identity. So we conclude that  $X(\rho)=X(\Delta\rho)Y(g)$  has the specific form given in the statement, and plugging this information into (B.1) we also get the structure of the phase factor  $\xi(\cdot,\cdot)$  in this lemma. g.e.d.

# APPENDIX C. MODULAR PROPERTIES OF $\Theta$ -functions and characters $K_n$ .

First we verify that Eq. (6.30) does define a group law. The only non-obvious point is checking the superposition rule for the third variable, which follows from the equation

$$\frac{c_2}{c_2\tau + d_2} + \frac{c_1}{(c_2\tau + d_2)[(c_1a_2 + d_1c_2)\tau + c_1b_2 + d_1d_2]}$$

$$= \frac{c_1a_2 + d_1c_2}{(c_1a_2 + d_1c_2)\tau + c_1b_2 + d_1d_2}$$

valid for  $a_2d_2 - c_2b_2 = 1$ .

The basic tool in deriving the transformation law (6.33) for the  $A_N$ -characters under modular inversion is the Poisson formula

$$\sum_{m} f(m) = \sum_{m} \hat{f}(m) \text{ for } \hat{f}(y) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-2\pi i x y} f(x) dx.$$
 (C.1)

It is valid whenever both f and its Fourier transform  $\hat{f}$  are absolutely integrable.

It is applied to  $(Im \tau > 0)$ 

$$f(x) = \exp\left(\pi i \tau (xg + \frac{n}{g})^2 + 2\pi i \zeta (xg + \frac{n}{g})\right)$$

$$\hat{f}(m) = \frac{1}{g\sqrt{-i\tau}} \exp\left(i\pi \left[\frac{2nm}{g^2} - \frac{1}{\tau}(\zeta - \frac{n}{g})^2\right]\right)$$
(C.2)

with the result

$$g\sqrt{-i\tau}\Theta_{2n,2N}(\tau,\zeta,0) = \sum_{p=1-N}^{N} e^{i\pi np/N}\Theta_{2p,2N}(-\frac{1}{\tau},\frac{\zeta}{\tau},-\frac{1}{2}\frac{\zeta}{\tau}). \tag{C.3}$$

We have used the identity

$$\sum_{m} \hat{f}(m) = \sum_{p=1-N}^{N} \sum_{m} \hat{f}(2Nm + p)$$

in which the sum over p can be replaced by a sum over any other interval of length 2N. Using the identity

$$\eta(-\tau^{-1}) = (-i\tau)^{\frac{1}{2}}\eta(\tau) \tag{C.4}$$

which also follows from the Poisson formula applied to the  $\Theta$ -series expansion

$$\eta(\tau) = \sum_{m} (-1)^m e^{2\pi i \tau \frac{3}{2} (n + \frac{1}{6})^2}$$
 (C.5)

of the Dedekind  $\eta$ -function, we find

$$K_n(\tau,\zeta;N) = e^{-\zeta^2/2\tau} \sum_{p=1-N}^{N} S_{np}^* K_p(-\frac{1}{\tau},\frac{\zeta}{\tau};N)$$
 (C.6)

where

$$S_{np}^{\star} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2N}} \epsilon^{i\pi np/N}. \tag{C.7.}$$

This proves Eqs. (6.33), (6,36) since

$$\frac{1}{2N} \sum_{p=1-N}^{N} e^{i\pi(n-k)p/N} = \delta_{kn}.$$
 (C.8)

The property (6.35), (6.36) of S is then obtained by a repeated application of (6.33), which gives for  $C = S^2$ 

$$\sum_{p=1-N}^{N} C_{np} K_p(\tau, \zeta; N) = K_n(\tau, -\zeta; N)$$

$$= K_{-n}(\tau, \zeta; N).$$
(C.9)

We note that the representations of  $SL(2; \mathbf{Z})$  thus constructed are never faithful. For any given N the infinite subgroup

$$\Gamma_{24N} = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in SL(2, \mathbf{Z}); \quad \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} mod(24N) \right\}$$
 (C.10)

of  $SL(2, \mathbb{Z})$  is represented trivially.

Indeed,  $\Theta_{l,g^2}(\tau,\zeta,u)$  are modular forms of weight  $\frac{1}{2}$  with respect to the subgroup  $\Gamma_{24g^2}$  for any positive integer  $g^2$ . It is a deep result of Serre and Stark [31] that these  $\Theta$ -functions actually span the space of all modular forms of weight  $\frac{1}{2}$ . For related work see [56,57,58].

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank R.R. Paunov for his part (reflected in [59]) in obtaining the results of Section 6, and for communicating to us his construction of the generalized Klein transformation relating the  $\mathcal{A}_3$ -model to the  $\mathbb{Z}_4$ -"parafermions" of Ref. 41. Discussions with V.G. Kac and J.B. Zuber at the time when the preview [60,32] of the present paper was prepared, is also gratefully acknowledged.

One of the authors (I.T.) would like to thank the II. Institute for Theoretische Physik. Universität Hamburg, and DESY for their hospitality in Hamburg (for part of the winters 1987 and 1988) and Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft for financial support. He also acknowledges hospitality at the Institut des Hautes Etudes Scientifiques. Bures-sur-Yvette: Faculté des Sciences Mirande. Université de Dijon; Centre de Physique Theorique-Section 2. CNRS, Luminy (Marseille) in March-April 1988.

- J.L. Cardy, Conformal invariance, in: Phase transitions and critical phenomena vol.11, C. Domb and J. Lebowitz (eds), Academic Press, London 1986
- [2] K. Dietz and V. Rittenberg (eds.), Infinite Lie algebras and conformal invariance in condensed matter and particle physics, Proceedings of the Johns Hopkins workshop on current problems in particle physics, Bonn 1986. World Scientific, Singapore 1986 (see, in particular, the lectures by I. Affleck, T.L. Einstein, and J.L. Cardy).
- J.L. Cardy, Effect of boundary conditions on the operator content of two dimensional conformally invariant theories, Nucl. Phys. B275 [FS 17] (1986) 200
- [4] A.M. Polyakov, Quantum geometry and bosonic strings, Phys. Letters 103B (1981) 207; Quantum geometry of fermionic strings ibid. 211
- D. Friedan, E. Martinec, S.H. Shenker, Conformal invariance, supersymmetry and string theory, Nucl. Phys. B271 (1986) 93
  - L. Dixon, D. Friedan, E. Martinec, S. Shenker, The conformal field theory on orbifolds, Nucl. Phys. B282 (1987) 13
- [6] D. Gepner, E. Witten, String theory on group manifolds, Nucl. Phys. B278 (1986) 493
- [7] R. Haag, D. Kastler, An algebraic approach to field theory, J. Math. Phys 5 (1964) 848
- [8] H.J. Borchers, On the vacuum state in quantum field theory, Commun. Math. Phys. 1 (1965) 57
- [9] S. Doplicher, R. Haag, J.E. Roberts, Local observables and particle statistics I, II, Commun. Math. Phys. 23 (1971) 199 and 35 (1974) 49
  - S. Doplicher, J.E. Roberts, C\*-algebras and duality for compact groups: why there is a compact group of internal gauge symmetries in particle physics, in: VII. Congress on Mathematical physics, M. Mebkhout and R. Seneor (eds.), World Scientific 1987
- [10] V.G. Knizhnik, A.B. Zamolodchikov, Current algebra and Wess Zumino model in two dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B247 (1984) 83
- [11] I.T. Todorov, Current algebra approach to conformal invariant 2-dimensional models, Phys. Letters 153B (1985) 77
- [12] R. Haag, N.M. Hugenholtz, M. Winnink, On the equilibrium states in quantum statistical mechanics, Commun. Math. Phys. 5 (1967) 215; for a later review and more references see:
  - D. Kastler, Does ergodicity plus locality imply the Gibbs structure?, Proc. Symposia Pure Math. 38 (1982) 467
- [13] M. Lüscher, G. Mack, The energy momentum tensor of critical quantum field theory in 1+1 dimensions (unpublished manuscript, Hamburg 1976) (for reviews see [39.24.61.)

[14] A.A. Belavin, A.M. Polyakov, A.B. Zamolodchikov, Infinite conformal symmetry in two dimensional quantum field theory. Nucl. Phys. B241 (1984) 333

see also

- S. Ferrara, A.F. Grillo, R. Gatto, Conformal algebra in two space time dimensions and the Thirring model, Nuovo Cimento 12 (1972) 959
- B. Schroer, A trip to scalingland in: V Brazilian symposium on theoretical physics, E. Ferreira (ed.), Livros Técnicos e Cientificos Editora S.A. Rio de Janeiro 1974
- [15] R.F. Streater, A.S. Wightman, PCT, spin and statistics, and all that, Benjamin, New York 1964
- [16] D. Buchholz, H. Schulz-Mirbach, work in preparation
- [17] J. Fröhlich, Statistics of fields, the Yang Baxter equation, and the theory of knots and links in: Nonperturbative quantum field theory, G. t'Hooft et al. (eds.), Plenum Press, New York 1988
- [18] K.H. Rehren, B. Schroer, Einstein causality and Artin braids, Freie Universität Berlin preprint 1988
- [19] M. Lüscher, G. Mack, Global conformal invariance in quantum field theory, Commun. Math. Phys. 41 (1975) 203
- [20] H. Takesaki and W. Winnink, Local normality in quantum statistical mechanics, Commun. Math. Phys. 30 (1973) 129
- [21] S. Doplicher, R. Haag, J.E. Roberts, Fields, observables, and gauge transformations I, II, Commun. Math. Phys. 13 (1969) 1; 15 (1969) 173
- [22] I.E. Segal, Causally oriented manifolds and groups, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 77 (1971) 958
- [23] P. Goddard, D. Olive, Kac-Moody and Virasoro algebras in relation to quantum physics, Int. J. Mod. Phys. 1 (1986) 303
- [24] P. Furlan, G.M. Sotkov, I.T. Todorov, Two dimensional conformal quantum field theory, SISSA Internal report 66/88/ED (Trieste, 1988) and Riv. Nuovo Cimento (to be published)
- [25] A. Pressley, G. Segal, Loop groups, Clarendon Press, Oxford 1986
- [26] I.B. Frenkel, V.G. Kac, Basic representations of affine Lie algebras and dual resonance models, Invent. Math. 62 (1980) 23
- [27] A.L. Carey, C.A. Hurst, A note on the boson-fermion correspondence and infinite dimensional groups, Commun. Math. Phys. 98 (1985) 435
  A.L. Carrey, S.N.M. Buildenberg, On termina cause groups, support algebras.
  - A.L. Carey, S.N.M. Ruijsenaars, On fermion gauge groups, current algebras and Kac-Moody algebras, Acta Appl. Math. 10 (1987) 1
- [28] T.H.R. Skyrme, Particle state of a quantized meson field, Proc. Roy. Soc. A262 (1961) 237
- [29] R.F. Streater, I.F. Wilde, Fermion states of a boson field, Nucl. Phys. B24 (1970) 561

- R.F. Streater, Charges and currents in the Thirring model in: Physical reality and mathematical description, C.P. Enz and J. Mehra (eds.), Reidel, Dordrecht 1974 pp.375-386
- [30] S. Mandelstam, Soliton operators for the quantized sine Gordon equation, Phys. Rev. D11 (1975) 3026
- [31] J.P. Serre, H. Stark, Modular forms of weight 1/2, Lecture Notes in Math. 627, Springer Berlin 1977
- [32] R.R. Paunov. I.T. Todorov. Homogeneous space construction of modular invariant QFT-models with a chiral U(1)-current, in: Proceedings of XVI. International Cooloquium on Group Theoretic Models in Physics, Varna, Bulgaria 1987, H. Doebner and T. Palev (eds.)
- [33] H.J. Borchers: Energy and momentum as observables in quantum field theory, Commun. Math. Phys. 2 (1966) 49
- [34] J.J. Bisognano, E.R.H. Wichmann, On the duality condition for quantum fields, J. Math. Phys. 17 (1976) 303
- [35] H. Araki, Von Neumann algebras of local observables for the free scalar field, J. Math. Phys. 5 (1964) 1
- [36] H.J. Borchers, A remark on a theorem of B. Misra, Commun. Math. Phys. 4 (1967) 315
- [37] N. Seiberg, E. Witten, Spin structures in string theory, Nucl. Phys. B276 (1986) 272
- [38] H.L. Carey, S.N.M. Ruijsenaars, J.D. Wright, The massless Thirring model: Positivity of Klaibers N-point functions, Commun. Math. Phys. 99 (1985) 347
- [39] I.T. Todorov, Infinite Lie algebras in 2-dimensional conformal theory in: Differential geometric methods in theoretical physics, H.D. Doebner and T.D. Palev (eds.), World Scientific, Singapore 1986
- [40] G. Mack, Duality in quantum field theory, Nucl. Phys. B118 (1977) 445
- [41] A.B. Zamolodchikov, V.A. Fateev, Nonlocal (parafermion) currents in two dimensional conformal quantum field theory and self dual critical points in Z<sub>n</sub> symmetric statistical systems, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 89 (1985) 3801, engl. transl.: Sov. Phys. JETP 62 (1985) 215
- [42] P. Goddard, A. Kent, D. Olive, Unitary representations of the Virasoro and super-Virasoro algebras, Commun. Math. Phys. 103 (1986) 105-119
- [43] D. Gepner, On the spectrum of 2D conformal field theories, Nucl. Phys. B287 (1987) 111
- [44] P. Ginsparg, Curiosities at c = 1, Harvard preprint HUTP-87/A068
- [45] R. Dijkgraaf, E. Verlinde, H. Verlinde, Conformal field theory at c = 1 in: Nonperturbative quantum field theory, G. t'Hooft et al. (eds.), Plenum Press, New York 1988
- [46] B. Schroer, J.A. Swieca, Conformal transformations of quantized fields, Phys. Rev. D10 (1974) 480

- [47] O. Bratelli, D.W. Robinson, Operator algebras and quantum statistical mechanics, Springer, New York Heidelberg 1981
- [48] P. Di Francesco, H. Saleur, J.B. Zuber. Modular invariance in non minimal two dimensional conformal theories, Nucl. Phys. B285 [FS 19] (1987) 454
- [49] A. Capelli, C. Itzykson, J.B. Zuber, Modular invariant partition functions in two dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B280 [FS 18] (1987) 445; The A-D-E classification of minimal and A<sub>1</sub><sup>(1)</sup> conformal invariant theories, Commun. Math. Phys. 113 (1987)
- [50] D. Gepner, Z. Qiu, Modular invariant partition functions for parafermionic field theories, Nucl. Phys. B285 [FS 19] (1987) 423
- [51] G.M. Sotkov, I.T. Todorov, M.S. Stanishkov, V.Yu. Trifonov, Higher symmetries in conformal QFT models, in: Topological and geometrical methods in field theory, Symposium in Espoo (Finland), J. Hietarinta and J. Westerholm (eds.), World Scientific, Singapore 1986, pp. 195-217
- [52] D. Friedan, Z. Qiu, S. Shenker, Conformal invariance, unitarity and critical exponents in two dimensions, Phys. Rev. Letters 52 (1984) 1575; Details of the non-unitarity proof for highest weight representations of the Virasoro algebra, Commun. Math. Phys. 107 (1986) 535
- [53] H. Araki, Hamiltonian formalism and the canonical commutation relations in quantum field theory, J. Math.Phys. 1 (1960) 492 (see, in particular, Theorem 4.3)
- [54] F. Rocca, M. Sirigue, D. Testard, On a class of equilibrium states under the Kubo-Martin-Schwinger condition, Commun. Math. Phys. 19 (1970) 119
- [55] H. Arakai, S. Yamagani, On quasi equivalence of quasifree states of the canonical commutation relations Publ. RIMS, Kyoto Univ. 18 (1982) 283
- [56] V.G. Kac, H. Wakimoto, Modular and conformal invariance constraints in representation theory of affine algebras, MIT preprint
- [57] G. Waterson, Bosonic construction of an N = 2 extended superconformal theory in two dimensions, Phys. Letters 171B (1986) 77
- [58] V.G. Kac, D.H. Peterson, Infinite dimensional Lie algebras, theta functions and modular forms, Adv. Math. 53 (1984) 125
- [59] R.R. Paunov, I.T. Todorov, Modular invariant QFT models of U(1)- conformal current algebra, Phys. Letters B196 (1987) 519
- [60] I.T. Todorov, Finite temperature 2-dimensional QFT models of conformal current algebra in: Conformal invariance and string theory, P. Dita and V. Georges (eds.), Academic Press 1988
- [61] G. Mack, Introduction to conformal invariant quantum field theories in two and more dimensions in: Nonperturbative quantum field theory, G. t'Hooft et al. (eds.), Plenum Press. New York 1988
- [62] P. di Vecchia, J.L. Petersen, M. Yu, H.B. Zheng, Explicit construction of unitary representations of the N = 2 superconformal algebra, Phys. Letters 174B (1986) 280

[63] G. van Gehlen, V. Rittenberg, Superconformal invariance in the Ashkin Teller quantum chain with free boundary conditions, J. Phys. A19 (1986) L1039; ibid A20 (1987) 227